

Public participation in climate budgeting

Learning from experiences in Bangladesh, Indonesia and Nepal

Sejal Patel, Delaine McCullough, Paul Steele, Tanjir Hossain, Iqbal Damanik, Widya Kartika, Gulfino Che Guevarrato and Krishna Sapkota

Working Paper

August 2022

Climate change; Economics

Keywords: Climate finance, Bangladesh, Indonesia, Nepal, public engagement





Corresponding author

Sejal Patel is a researcher in IIED's Shaping Sustainable Markets and Climate Change Groups. She is an environmental economist, and her work focuses on climate and nature finance, public policy and governance.

Email: Sejal.Patel@iied.org

Produced by IIED's Shaping Sustainable Markets Group

The Shaping Sustainable Markets group works to make sure that local and global markets are fair and can help poor people and nature thrive. Our research focuses on the mechanisms, structures and policies that lead to sustainable and inclusive economies. Our strength is in finding locally appropriate solutions to complex global and national problems.

Acknowledgements

This study is a collaboration between the International Budget Partnership (IBP) and the International Institute for Environment and Development (IIED). It is associated with a separately published paper entitled Mainstreaming Public Participation into Climate Budgeting: Insights from Bangladesh, Indonesia, and Nepal by Patel et al. (2022), which was a product of the 2020 Public Expenditure and Financial Accountability (PEFA) Research Competition on 'The Interplay of Climate Change and Public Financial Management'.

The authors would like to express gratitude to the country teams in Bangladesh, Indonesia and Nepal that supported the research process, and especially to the community members and other local and national actors engaged in the study for agreeing to share their insights on the participatory budgeting process at the local level. Thanks are also due to Brendan Halloran and Jason Lakin of IBP for their significant contribution to the overview, which draws on their research and analysis of public participation in policy making in general, and public deliberation in public financial management more specifically.

We also acknowledge Annette McGill, Anna Brown and Nicole Kenton for their editorial support.

We would like to thank our funder, the Swedish Postcode Foundation, which is a beneficiary to the Swedish Postcode Lottery and provides support to projects that foster positive social impact or search for long-term solutions to global challenges. We are also grateful to Sida and Irish Aid for funding the production of this paper.

Published by IIED, August 2022

Patel, S, McCullough, D, Steele, P, Hossain, T, Damanik, I, Kartika, W, Guevarrato, GC and Sapkota, K (2022) Public participation in climate budgeting: Learning from experiences in Bangladesh, Indonesia, and Nepal. IIED Working Paper, IIED,

https://pubs.iied.org/21031IIED

ISBN: 978-1-78431-981-6

Printed on recycled paper with vegetable-based inks.

International Institute for Environment and Development 235 High Holborn, Holborn, London WC1V 7DN, UK Tel: +44 (0)20 3463 7399 www.iied.org

y @iied

www.facebook.com/thelIED

Download more publications at http://pubs.iied.org/



IIED publications may be shared and republished in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International

Public License (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0). Under the terms of this licence, anyone can copy, distribute and display the material, providing that they credit the original source and don't use it for commercial purposes or make derivatives. Different licences may apply to some illustrative elements, in which instance the licence will be displayed alongside. IIED is happy to discuss any aspect of further usage. Get more information via www.iied.org/Creative-Commons

IIED is a charity registered in England, Charity No.800066 and in Scotland, OSCR Reg No.SC039864 and a company limited by guarantee registered in England No.2188452.

Effective climate budgeting requires meaningful participation and systematic public engagement. Without these it is difficult for governments to provide climate financing that aligns with household priorities, and households will continue to spend large amounts of money responding and adapting to climate change without, and sometimes against the flow of, public financing.

Using a case study approach, this paper explores the role of public participation in climate budgeting in Nepal, Bangladesh, and Indonesia by assessing these governments' adherence to the Global Initiative for Fiscal Transparency (GIFT) principles of public participation in fiscal policy. It also analyses secondary data on household climate and disaster priorities against government climate and disaster expenditure estimates, and finds that households in these countries are significant financiers of climate resilience. But their governments are not yet enabling households to meaningfully participate throughout the public financial management (PFM) process that would lead to better alignment and targeting of the public climate budget. The paper also identifies crosscountry learning and makes recommendations to support improvements in public accountability and participation processes, particularly through interventions to improve national adherence to the GIFT principles.

Contents

1 Introduction		
2 L	iterature review	6
2.1	Perspectives on public participation	6
2.2	Inclusive and meaningful participation: key factors and approaches	7
2.3	Public participation and climate budgeting	7
3 A	conceptual framework for assessing	
pul	olic participation in climate budgeting	10
3.1	Defining public participation	10
3.2	Climate change and public participation	11
3.3	Entry points for public participation in the climate budgeting process	12
4 N	lethodology	13
4.1	Study design	13
4.2	Case selection	13
4.3	Data collection	14
4.4	Data analysis	14

5 Results	15		
5.1 The key components of climate change budgeting and accountability	15		
5.2 Enabling factors that support public climate finance accountability	16		
5.3 Scope and quality of public participation in climate change budgeting	17		
5.4 Case analysis using the GIFT principles	18		
5.5 Political economy context factors that affect public participation in climaterelated budgeting and accountability	21		
5.6 Quantitative analysis of public contributions to the climate budget	22		
6 Conclusion and policy recommendations			
References	25		
Other works consulted	26		
Annexes	28		
Annex 1: Table of accountability entry points	28		
Annex 2: Cross-country summary	33		

Introduction

Climate change-related public financial management (PFM) is complex. The funds available to address climate change within any one country generally come from multiple external (eg bilateral and multilateral aid and overseas private investments) and internal sources (eg public revenues generated domestically and local private sector and household investments). In addition, these funds are typically managed by various government ministries, departments and administrative units at both the national and subnational level, and by private companies or nongovernmental organisations (NGOs) at the project level. Moreover, climate financial resources are likely to flow through various channels, including the government's annual budget, special 'off-budget' funds, and direct project funding, as well as mechanisms such as grants, loans, and direct government expenditure on programmes and capital outlay. Adding to this complexity, which is also evident in other sectors where the government is a major actor, is the need to quickly build and operationalise effective and accountable climate change finance systems.

Even within this context, mitigating climate change and ameliorating its impacts are more likely to happen if the public budget systems that govern investments toward these goals are fully transparent, participatory, and have meaningful checks and balances. At its core, strong and accountable climate-related PFM is built

on the same three pillars of accountability that the International Budget Partnership (IBP) has identified for all PFM systems: transparency; public participation; and strong public oversight institutions.1 A growing body of research indicates that such formal public finance systems are more likely to set and implement effective policies when they are embedded in a broad accountability ecosystem in which civil society organisations (CSOs), media, and formal oversight institutions, including legislatures and supreme audit institutions, are engaged in ensuring that public financial resources are used efficiently and effectively to meet national mitigation and adaptation objectives.2 This three-pillar framework emphasises that public accountability - defined as the answerability of public officials for their decisions and actions so as to guarantee that government initiatives meet their stated objectives and respond to the needs of the communities they are meant to be benefitting - is a function of both the accountability that results from the institutions (the rules, processes and systems) of the state, and from the engagement of the state by non-state actors, including CSOs, the media, communities and citizens.

Despite the importance of this subject, there is a noticeable gap in the literature on public participation in the context of climate budgeting. In addition, amid discussions pointing to the promising outcomes

¹ For a more in-depth discussion of the International Budget Partnership's model of strong public finance accountability, which incorporates widely accepted international standards from the International Monetary Fund, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, the Public Expenditure and Financial Accountability Program, and IBP, and its latest assessment of how countries around the world perform against this standard, see Open Budget Survey 2021 https://internationalbudget.org/open-budget-survey/open-budget-survey-2021

²⁰²¹ https://internationalbudget.org/open-budget-survey/open-budget-survey-2021

²For more on public finance accountability ecosystems and how donors and international nongovernmental organisations can support them, see Creating Incentives for Budget Accountability and Good Financial Governance Through an Ecosystem Approach: What Can External Actors Do? International Budget Partnership and GIZ (Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit), May 2016 www.internationalbudget.org/publications/creating-incentives-for-budget-accountability-through-ecosystem-approach/

associated with citizen participation, several scholars have underscored the lack of empirical evidence of the posited benefits. In contributing to this debate, we explore the role of public participation in climate budgeting. Our hypothesis is that governments are not yet providing for meaningful participation and systematic public engagement for climate budgeting. We test this hypothesis using a case study approach to assess the extent to which public participation is embedded in fiscal policy throughout the budget process, through the lens of the Global Initiative for Fiscal Transparency (GIFT) principles, in three countries: Nepal, Indonesia, and Bangladesh. The study acknowledges that governments are falling short when it comes to citizen participation in climate-related PFM processes. Without adequate public participation to guide governments on providing financing that aligns with household priorities for climate change, households continue to spend a large proportion of their budget on responding and adapting to climate change without, and sometimes against the flow of, public financing. Consequently, it is crucial that fiscal policy aligns with and supports poor and climate-vulnerable households that are bearing the burden of climate impacts.

This study is relevant to governments, practitioners, civil society and external actors, amongst others, who could use it to help gain insights into how to promote effective and accountable climate-responsive PFM. Also, while the question of the capacity of climate finance accountability actors is the primary focus of the work being undertaken through a broader IBP-IIED partnership, this study seeks to both support their country engagements and contribute to the broader climate PFM governance/accountability field, notably on the enabling environment in which these actors engage with one another over the use of climate-related financial resources.

The paper is structured as follows. Section 2 provides a brief review of the literature. Section 3 outlines the conceptual framework adopted to assess public participation in climate-budgeting. Section 4 describes the study's methodology, including its design, the countries selected and data collection and evaluation strategies. Section 5 presents the results. Finally, Section 6 concludes and provides policy recommendations.

2

Literature review

2.1 Perspectives on public participation

Public participation has been much debated in the social sciences. Contemporary scholarship characterises participatory spaces and opportunities as sites of cooperation and contestation, as well as being thoroughly embedded in structures of power and politics (Cornwall and Coelho, 2007). Many analysts of citizen involvement point to Sherry Arnstein's observation made decades ago that what is often described as participation is in reality a diverse set of activities, some of which provide opportunity for citizens to take part in or control communal decision making, and others that simply serve to manipulate or placate those individuals (Arnstein, 1969).

At its best, participation can transform 'citizenship' from an idea into practice. Lister (1998) captured this phenomenon well by stating, "Citizenship as participation can be seen as representing an expression of human agency in the political arena, broadly defined". Engagement can place power in the hands of individuals and communities and allow them to exercise their agency to make decisions and solve problems, thus presenting the opportunity to simultaneously create a more civic-minded citizenry and more responsive institutions.

However, scholars have pointed to the lack of empirical evidence of the posited benefits of participation (Cleaver, 2001). Analysts have also argued that this assertion is too often the product of assumption, rather than arising from an honest accounting of the complexity of the exercise of agency by poor and marginalised actors (Cleaver, 2001; 2004). Additionally, potential elite control or capture of participatory processes

cast doubts on the democratising effects that some analysts have suggested result from such opportunities (Fritzen, 2007).

Indeed, the conditions under which participation leads to better decisions may imply certain trade-offs. For example, the 'wisdom of crowds' emphasises that crowdsourcing is effective when inputs are sought from independent actors who are anonymous and do not influence one another (formally, actors have diverse opinions, are independent, decentralised, and there is an aggregation mechanism that pools independent views) (Surowiecki, 2004). The logic of these conditions is that they ensure that when increasing numbers of people are added to a decision-making process, they bring additional information and avoid 'herding' behaviour.

The idea that citizens influencing one another, or 'herding', is something to be avoided also runs counter to the civic ideal of open, deliberative forums with government where people not only can, but ideally do, influence one another. 'Independence' is also problematic from the perspective of social movements and other forms of collective action that might be considered important in improving the results of participatory processes for marginalised groups. For citizens to influence the state, their views not only need to be aggregated, but also must be represented by organised groups that can be heard (Fox, 2015).

All this is echoed in a review of 100 cases of participation from numerous countries, through which Gaventa and Barrett (2010) documented four areas of potential 'ends' or goals of civic involvement: 1) strengthening citizenship; 2) building capacities for exercising agency; 3) enhancing state responsiveness; and 4) supporting social inclusion. The authors highlighted the contingent

nature of these outcomes with any given experience of engagement while also noting that positive results have been realised even under adverse circumstances. Their analysis underscored the fact that citizen participation can yield promising outcomes, but such efforts can be undermined by a variety of challenges and obstacles as they unfold.

2.2 Inclusive and meaningful participation: key factors and approaches

Even when participatory spaces are open to all and engagement is encouraged and facilitated, there will always be individuals who, for different reasons, do not get involved. Even in best-case scenarios, only a minority of the population is able to and choose to engage. Thus, whether acknowledged or not, participatory spaces are often sites of representation in which individuals (or organisations) speak for other groups and communities and make decisions on their behalf. Women, those who suffer poverty and other marginalised groups typically face the most barriers to effective participation in governance and who therefore often find themselves represented by others, including CSOs (Mahmud, 2007; Navarro, 2010). Some commentators have disputed the legitimacy of the representative claims of such groups, whether NGOs or grassroots organisations (Brysk, 2000; Chandhoke, 2009; de Wit and Berner, 2009). They argue that many such organisations lack accountability measures and consequently, instead of promoting the voices of marginalised groups, can put them into vertical, dependent power relations. The question, "who speaks for the poor?" must be asked in all participatory spaces within which decisions are made that affect marginalised populations. If the answer is, "not those actors themselves," then representational claims must be carefully justified.

Cornwall and Coelho (2007) argued that irrespective of formal, and even legal, inclusion, marginalised groups are frequently excluded or further subordinated despite their engagement in supposed participatory spaces. These authors further observed that new involvement opportunities and institutions are subject to the constraint of existing power structures and political culture. Robert Putnam (1993) reached a similar conclusion in his study of political organisations in Italy. Cornwall and Coelho (2007) also noted that many formal participatory spaces lack 'teeth' (institutional backing for decisions made), and in such instances are hollow and may actually undermine the agency of those involved by engaging them in a process that may offer little more than the illusion of meaningful decision making.

Finally, scholars have argued that the political and institutional context of participatory spaces is a critical factor in societal actors' abilities to utilise such opportunities to promote positive change. Are democratic spaces integrated with other institutions and sites of decision making and deliberation, or are they isolated and relegated to the margins? For participatory openings to provide opportunities to strengthen citizenship and agency, they must encourage spill-over actions or contagion effects into other arenas of public (and private) life (Cornwall and Coelho, 2007). That is, engagement spaces must become embedded in a wider political project of citizenship-building if they are to bring about the transformative outcomes often associated with them (Hickey and Mohan, 2004).

2.3 Public participation and climate budgeting

Transparency, accountability and public participation are essential to ensuring that public resources invested in climate-related activities are spent effectively and reach the intended beneficiaries - the people and communities most vulnerable to the negative impacts of climate change - with minimum leakages. A preliminary estimate by IIED of the finance channelled to local climate activities puts the flow at below 10% (US\$1.5 billion) of international, regional and national climate funds between 2003 and 2016 (Soanes et al., 2017). This spending must not only reach the intended beneficiaries, but also must support their needs and priorities and fill the finance gaps indicated by their own climate-related expenditures.

Research by IIED on Bangladesh presents the world's first household climate expenditure review based on secondary data. The IIED research demonstrates that rural households - who make up a substantial portion of those directly affected by climate change - spend almost US\$2 billion a year on disaster preparedness and response. In absolute terms, this is more than double the government climate and disaster risk reduction spending and more than 12 times higher than multilateral international financing to Bangladesh's rural population (Eskander and Steele, 2019). When household spending is measured as share of income, women are found to spend three times more than men on climate and disaster. Household spending in response to climate threats or hazards strongly indicates where there are gaps in public investment.

Particularly relevant to climate change planning and public finance processes is the theoretical basis for the idea that democratic participatory approaches to decision making are likely to yield higher quality decisions that better represent the public interest (Mercier and Landemore, 2012). This argument is

based on the importance of 'cognitive diversity' (diverse information and ideas) in improving decision making. There is also some empirical evidence suggesting that participatory approaches to budgeting can lead to improved outcomes for the poor (Touchton and Wampler, 2013). This emerging evidence is particularly relevant to climate change PFM because of the disproportionate negative impact of climate hazards on those who suffer poverty, discrimination and other intersecting forms of marginalisation (see an example in Box 1). However, there are also cases where participation leads to polarisation, intolerance and worse outcomes for ordinary people (Sunstein, 2002).

However, findings from IBP's Open Budget Survey (OBS) indicate that many of the countries that are managing substantial amounts of financial resources for climate actions have some of the least open and accountable budgeting practices in the world (International Budget Partnership, 2020).³ The risk is that such systems are more likely to produce inadequate, poorly designed, or poorly implemented investments in climate change mitigation and adaptation, potentially squandering the opportunity to support people most affected by climate hazards. Given the interaction between climate catastrophe and poverty, failure to improve these systems threatens to undermine efforts under both the Paris Agreement and the 2030 Sustainable Development Agenda to realise equitable,

just and sustainable societies. Thus, it will be imperative to strengthen domestic climate finance accountability, particularly at the local level, where policies and projects are most likely to be developed and implemented.

In recent decades there have been many experiments in opening formal spaces and processes for citizen engagement in budgets and beyond. Evidence points to the centrality of the political dynamics and inequalities within these arenas for policy outcomes and implementation, noting the challenge in making these mechanisms inclusive and meaningful, rather than superficial or subject to elite capture (World Bank, 2017; Rigon, 2014).

Nevertheless, we also know of factors that lead to more meaningful and inclusive citizen participation (see Box 2). Gaventa and Barrett (2010) found that the most meaningful changes for marginalised groups – from influencing decisions to ensuring accountability – are those that involve mobilising through both formal and informal participatory spaces and involve more durable forms of citizen organising through unions, cooperatives, associations, and social movements. Thus, evidence and practice suggest the need for broader citizen groups, formal CSOs and government reformers to each play a role in enabling more robust participatory spaces and mechanisms, while working in parallel with these to achieve meaningful change.

BOX 1. WOMEN'S ROLE IN CLIMATE-RELATED PUBLIC BUDGETING AND OVERSIGHT

To avoid exacerbating existing inequality, mitigation and adaptation strategies must pay attention to the gender dimension of climate change. Women and girls are disproportionately impacted by climaterelated weather hazards. For example, women, particularly those living in poverty, are more susceptible to climate change impacts than men because they are more likely to live in inadequately constructed homes in high-risk areas; often rely heavily on natural resources for food, fuel and income; and have limited economic options. Women also have limited capacity to respond to climate hazards because of existing structural inequalities: discrimination; unequal access to financial services like credit and insurance; insufficient provision of public services like education, healthcare and disaster recovery support; and little or no opportunities to participate in the decision-making processes that might allow them to challenge these structural issues.

Women may be more vulnerable to climate risks than men, but they also are change agents who have

experience and knowledge that, once recognised and supported, can help provide solutions to climate-related issues. As stewards of forests and other ecosystems, key food producers and leaders in disaster preparedness, women are already playing critical roles in minimising risks of and adapting to climate change impacts. They are also contributing to mitigation strategies as in the example of female entrepreneurs advancing lowcarbon renewable technologies, such as solar water heaters. Drawing on women's knowledge of climatesensitive sectors, such as agriculture, water and sanitation, in planning and policy making provides a tangible opportunity for governments to address both gender inequality and climate change. Through a 'dual mainstreaming' approach that recognises, engages and supports women as active and informed agents in crafting and executing policy responses, governments are more likely to identify actions with multiple benefits, including in addressing climate change and gender inequality.

Source: Patel et al. (2021)

³The Open Budget Survey looks at overall budget transparency, public participation and strength of oversight institutions for highly climate-vulnerable countries. For access to Open Budget Survey data, visit www.internationalbudget.org/open-budget-survey/

BOX 2. GUIDANCE ON ENGAGING MARGINALISED GROUPS

It is useful to look to other sectors for lessons for engaging marginalised groups, which include creating an engagement infrastructure that:

- · Builds trust though ongoing involvement and starting with small activities and deepening over time
- Supports dialogue and engagement over long periods of time
- Ensures that people see 'benefits' from their participation, which can be on two levels: as consumers of public goods (better services and investments in community) and as citizens (opportunities to ask questions, learn from one another, make suggestions and influence final decisions)
- · Guarantees 'safety' for users of services to criticise without losing services or status
- Starts from a user's perspective, leading with their needs and priorities

• Balances tension between needs assessments and constraints due to limited funding.

Beyond the engagement infrastructure, broad engagement faces several challenges. For instance, marginalised groups may be hidden within communities or unwilling to participate because of previous bad experiences. For those seeking to engage these groups, strategies include:

- · Developing an understanding of disadvantage and marginalisation within the particular setting
- Embedding oneself in the setting
- Engaging community leaders or key informants to help recruit
- Undertaking community mapping with key informants (what are the power structures, who is marginalised, who are the groups' leaders, and how can members be engaged).

Sources: O'Keefe and Hogg (1999) and Pratt (2019)

3

A conceptual framework for assessing public participation in climate budgeting

3.1 Defining public participation

This study is based on a conceptual framework that combines the Global Initiative for Fiscal Transparency (GIFT) Principles of Public Participation in Fiscal Policy, and the UNDP-IBP Framework for Accountability in Climate Budgeting (see Annex 1). The GIFT is a global network of governments, CSOs, international financial institutions and other stakeholders that seek to improve fiscal transparency, participation and accountability through dialogue, peer-learning, research and advocacy. To promote norms and standards for fiscal transparency and accountability, GIFT established a set of high-level principles that were endorsed by the United Nations General Assembly in 2012 (UNGA Resolution 67/218). Principle 10 establishes that "[c]itizens and non-state

actors should have the right and effective opportunities to participate directly in public debate and discussion over the design and implementation of fiscal policies." Because there was a dearth of guidance on how governments and state oversight institutions should engage the public on PFM, GIFT developed a set of Principles of Public Participation in Fiscal Policies for all public authorities.

GIFT defines public participation as "the variety of ways in which the general public, including civil society organizations and other non-state actors, are invited or have generated space to interact directly with public authorities by means of face-to-face communication, deliberation or decision making, or by written forms of communication using electronic or paper media" (Global Initiative for Fiscal Transparency, 2016). The GIFT framework is based on the following ten principles:

- 1. Accessibility: facilitate public participation in general by disseminating complete fiscal information and all other relevant data in formats and using mechanisms that are easy for all to access, understand, use, reuse and transform, namely in open data formats.
- 2. Openness: provide full information and be responsive with respect to the purpose of each engagement, its scope, constraints, intended outcomes, process and timelines, as well as the expected and actual results of public participation.
- 3. Inclusiveness: pro-actively use multiple mechanisms to engage citizens and non-state actors, including traditionally excluded and vulnerable groups and individuals, and voices that are seldom heard, without discrimination on any basis, including nationality, race, ethnicity, religion, gender, sexual orientation, disability, age or caste; and consider public inputs on an objective basis irrespective of their source.
- 4. Respect for self-expression: allow and support individuals and communities, including those directly affected, to articulate their interests in their own ways and to choose their preferred means of engagement, while recognising that there may be groups that have the authority to speak on behalf of others.
- 5. Timeliness: allow sufficient time in the budget and policy cycles for the public to provide inputs in each phase; engage early while a range of options is still open; and, where desirable, allow for more than one round of engagement.
- **6. Depth**: support each public engagement by providing all relevant information, highlighting and informing key policy objectives, options, choices and trade-offs, identifying potential social, economic and environmental impacts, and incorporating a diversity of perspectives; provide timely and specific feedback on public inputs and how they have been incorporated or not into official policy or advice.
- 7. Proportionality: use a mix of engagement mechanisms proportionate to the scale and impact of the issue or policy concerned.
- 8. Sustainability: all state and non-state entities conduct ongoing and regular engagement to increase knowledge sharing and mutual trust over time; institutionalise public participation where appropriate and effective, ensuring that feedback provided leads to review of fiscal policy decisions; and regularly review and evaluate experience to improve future engagement.
- 9. Complementarity: ensure mechanisms for public participation and citizen engagement complement and increase the effectiveness of existing governance and accountability systems.

10. Reciprocity: all state and non-state entities taking part in public engagement activities should be open about their mission, the interests they seek to advance, and whom they represent; should commit to and observe all agreed rules for engagement and should cooperate to achieve the objectives of the engagement.

3.2 Climate change and public participation

Climate change, and public policy responses to it, have characteristics that make public participation (particularly by marginalised groups) in all climate budgeting processes especially important. Climate change involves issues that affect many sectors and stakeholders, so effective responses will depend on information gathered from as many actors as possible. Specifically:

- · Climate change poses the greatest threats to very marginalised people with limited economic and political rights. These include women, those suffering poverty, indigenous people, people with disabilities, those in remote rural areas, and those facing multidimensional forms of discrimination. Accordingly, while these individuals may have critical information for effective climate-related actions/investments, their voices are unlikely to be heard in budget processes without government or civil society intentionally engaging them.
- Climate change response has aspects of a public good (eg research and development for climate-smart agriculture) and a private good (eg families spending their own resources to rebuild dwellings damaged by climate disasters). As such, household investments in adaptation that are identified by government entities through meaningful dialogue and participation with citizens need to be combined effectively with public finance through the budget process.
- The physical impacts of climate change, such as drought, shifting rainfall patterns, changes in access to water and other resources, are generally very localised. Therefore, inviting specific households to share their insights on how these impacts are playing out in economic, social, and political terms is essential to identifying and investing in activities best suited to local conditions and contexts.
- Climate change solutions involve significant innovation that depends on comprehensive knowledge of the problem to be solved and the context in which actions will be implemented. This can be generated by engaging with a broad range of people with direct experience and information.

- Climate change involves issues and impacts across many sectors (eg agriculture, infrastructure, social welfare, energy) and many stakeholders from state, private and civil society. Hence, effectively integrating responses will depend on information gathered from as many actors as possible.
- Climate change impacts are multigenerational.
 So, addressing the needs of current and future generations is most likely to occur when civil society and other stakeholders (who often have fewer constraints than government on focusing on long-term sustainability) are involved in budgeting processes.

3.3 Entry points for public participation in the climate budgeting process

The budget process consists of four main stages: budget formulation (including planning); budget approval; budget execution (or implementation); and budget oversight (Figure 1). Participation can take place at all stages of this budget cycle, as exemplified in: budget preparation that facilitates meaningful

consultation with the public; budget approval that engages the public on needs and priorities; budget implementation that includes public monitoring; and budget oversight that provides for climate budget audits with public participation.

As previously stated, we used the UNDP-IBP Framework set out in Annex 1 to identify points in the budget process for climate change where public participation is happening. The framework presents a conceptual model for evaluating accountability in climate finance that includes actors, institutions and processes (GIFT, 2016; Fölscher et al., 2018). The framework defines 16 components of climatesensitive budgeting (referred to as 'climate budgeting'). Then, it considers the transparency requirements and potential roles of accountability actors in each stage (through horizontal and vertical accountability mechanisms). The accountability roles are coded according to whether they reflect or contribute primarily to: a) improved access to information; b) improved participation; or c) improved action by oversight institutions. This information was leveraged to isolate aspects of the climate-related PFM processes in each country that facilitated public engagement, which were then assessed against the GIFT principles.

Figure 1: The budget process

Key documents Key documents APPROVAL FORMULATION · Executive's budget proposal Budget law Supporting budget Reports of legislative The executive The legislature documents prepares the reviews and budget committees proposed budget amends the budget - and then enacts it into law **AUDIT EXECUTION** The executive collects **Key documents Key documents Budget accounts** are audited and the and spends money · Audit reports In-year reports legislature reviews the as allocated in the Legislative audit Mid-year review audit findings, which **Budget Law** committee reports Year-end report require the government Supplementary budgets to address problems identified in the audit Source: Graphic informed by Guide to Transparency in Government Budget Reports, International Budget Partnership (2011)

4

Methodology

4.1 Study design

We adopted a case study approach to explore the extent to which governments are providing for meaningful participation and systematic public engagement for climate budgeting as defined by the GIFT principles. The study seeks to better understand the current state of public accountability for climaterelated PFM; that is, the capability of actors outside of the executive (primarily CSOs and citizens and media, as well as formal oversight institutions) to engage one another and the executive to ensure that climate funds are managed effectively and with full accountability in order to create more sustainable futures, especially for poor and marginalised people. The concept of 'capability' encompasses both the capacity of state and non-state accountability actors to play an effective role in budgetary decision-making and oversight processes, and whether the policy and political enabling environment in which climate resources are managed (eg public access to climate finance information, willingness of government to engage with accountability actors, and formal opportunities for public participation in the budget process) allows them to deploy this capacity towards accountability (Fölscher et al., 2018).

4.2 Case selection

The research centred on case studies of public participation in climate budgeting in three countries: Bangladesh, Indonesia, and Nepal. In selecting the countries for the case studies, priority was given to

countries that had both a high level of risk of negative impacts of climate change, and established systems, institutions and practices that would support climateresponsive public financial management. Given the relatively advanced state of climate-responsive PFM in the Asia and Pacific region compared to other regions, the selection of countries focused on this region. COVID-19 travel restrictions were another critical factor in the final selection of Bangladesh, Indonesia and Nepal for the study. As researchers from IBP and IIED were unable to travel to the countries to conduct the case studies, it was necessary to draw from their respective work in the region to identify national research teams. In terms of their climate risks, Nepal, Bangladesh and Indonesia were ranked the 12th, 13th and 14th most climate-impacted countries in the world, respectively, in 2019 in the Global Climate Risk Index 2021 (Eckstein et al., 2021). They are among the countries that have suffered most from the impacts of climate change, through floods, forest fires, drought and other climate-induced disasters. These countries are on the frontline of responding to these impacts and are already channelling significant volumes of climate finance in their response. They have also developed legal and institutional frameworks to support effective planning and budgeting for climate change mitigation and adaptation, and all three have integrated public consultation and participation into these governance frameworks. Thus, the combination of climate risk, climate-responsive budgeting systems that should be supporting robust public engagement, and local research capacity drove the country selection.

4.3 Data collection

We used a variety of research methods to collect data. Specifically, we developed, tested and administered in-depth semi-structured interviews with a variety of stakeholder representatives in each of the three countries. A snowball sampling technique was used to identify respondents from targeted stakeholder groups, which included the supreme audit institutions, the legislature (eg climate change, budget, and public accounts committees), CSO representatives, media actors, key climate change external actors based in-country, and the finance ministry. We conducted interviews with up to 50 respondents and held validation workshops to discuss findings with both state and non-state actors. The interviews were done face-toface or through telephone calls through country-based research. When allowed, the interviews were recorded and then transcribed

In addition to the interviews, data were obtained from secondary document reviews. Documents reviewed included: country climate policies, strategies, and laws; development policies and plans; budget data and reports, including climate budget reports where available; reports from public audits or other oversight institution reports; national public participation policies and laws; and CSO and civil society reports and publications. Field visits were not possible due to COVID-19 restrictions during the course of the study.

4.4 Data analysis

Our analysis followed a five-step process. First, we described the components of the climate change budgeting and accountability systems in each country. To this end, we provided detailed information on the climate change-responsive fiscal governance arrangements; the expenditure management institutions at the national and subnational levels; the extent to which national and subnational formal oversight institutions are engaged in climate change budgeting and accountability; and the legal and administrative requirements for public participation in climate-related PFM and oversight.

Second, we analysed the extent to which an enabling environment for public climate finance accountability was supported in each country. This entailed an evaluation of the existing formal mechanisms for public participation, including the degree to which they were functioning, as well as the informal spaces used by state and non-state actors for public participation.

Third, we identified and assessed the degree of public participation in the budget process. The observed practices of public participation were compared against the GIFT principles. In particular, our analysis included a description of:

- The characteristics of the functioning mechanisms for participation (openness, depth, proportionality, timeliness and reciprocity)
- The extent to which adequate and timely climaterelated budget information was made available for use in participation/consultation spaces (accessibility)
- The sustainability of public participation in climate PFM
- How existing public participation mechanisms support or reinforce climate-related public financial management processes and systems (complementarity)
- The inclusiveness of participation spaces, including the extent to which the climate finance system facilitates the participation and meeting of the needs of poor and marginalised groups, particularly women, that are more vulnerable to the impacts of climate change
- The degree to which individuals and communities, including those directly affected, are allowed and supported to provide inputs in their own ways and to choose the means of engagement that they prefer (self-expression).

In the fourth step, we evaluated the political economy context factors that could support or undermine public participation in climate-related budgeting and accountability, with a focus on the following questions:

- What is the role, if any, of external actors? What role can they play in the future? Does civil society or other non-state actors facilitate the engagement of more marginalised climate-vulnerable people?
- What are the norms on civil society participation, the role of the media, and legislative power relative to the executive in practice?
- What incentives and interests drive accountability or lack of accountability for climate change financing in the country?

Finally, we conducted a quantitative assessment of public contribution to the climate budget of each country. This analysis used secondary data on household climate and disaster priorities as well as household climate and disaster expenditure estimates. These data were then matched with a review of data collected on government and development community (donor) climate and disaster expenditure and aid flows. Where possible, the comparison identified complementarities and mismatches, such as households' priority on social protection and livelihood support versus government and donor preference for large infrastructure. We also analysed the political economy of these relative priorities.

Results

This section presents a summary of the scope and quality of public participation in climate change budgeting in Nepal, Bangladesh, and Indonesia, based on the data gathered through interviews, observations and desk reviews. The section concludes with a review of the quantitative results on the public contribution to the climate budget.

5.1 The key components of climate change budgeting and accountability

The results indicate that all three countries examined have undertaken budget reforms that support greater transparency of climate-related budget information. In particular, all three countries have developed a Climate Change Fiscal Framework (CCFF) - Bangladesh and Indonesia since 2012, and Nepal since 2017 - to map out reforms in the planning, execution and reporting of climate finance, and for engaging with CSOs and parliamentary committees to improve the accountability of climate finance.

Climate Public Expenditure and Institutional Reviews (CPEIRs), undertaken in 2012 in Bangladesh and in 2011 (national) and 2017 (district level) in Nepal, provided key recommendations for mainstreaming climate change into planning and budgeting processes, which led to the development of the CCFFs in those countries. In Indonesia, CPEIRs in selected provinces were undertaken post-CCFF development to support its ongoing strengthening.

As part of the reforms under the CCFFs, Indonesia and Nepal have established climate budget tagging systems used to identify and tag expenditures intended for

mitigation or adaptation activities. Such coding systems produce useful, though highly aggregated, information on a government's investments in response to climate breakdowns, which can be used to track trends in climate-related spending over time and across sectors and ministries. To support citizen and civil society engagement in monitoring expenditure on the ground and feeding resulting information into the formal audit and oversight processes, governments must produce and make available in machine-readable formats far more detailed data at the programme and project level.

The government of Bangladesh has produced climate budget reports since fiscal year 2016-17. These reports present data on allocations for climate-related activities subsumed into the total budgets of 25 key ministries and divisions. While these reports have helped improve transparency, CSOs have called for the reports to include data on actual expenditures, to show expenditures broken down by programmes or projects, and for the government to track the effectiveness of the expenditures, to further improve the usefulness of the information.

In all three countries, the ministries of finance play important roles as lead expenditure management institutions. This is usually in consultation with parliament and supported by relevant subnational authorities, such as the Budget User Authority at the regional level in Indonesia. Planning authorities support the integration of climate policies and strategies in period plans and provide budgeting guidelines for all levels. In Indonesia, provincial governments are mandated to produce action plans aligned with the national action plan, which are then reflected in local government workplans and budgets. The roles and responsibilities of local governments in the budget setting and expenditure management process are much less clear in Nepal and Bangladesh.

Supreme Audit Institutions (SAI) can play important oversight roles to ensure transparency and accountability of flows. They carry out financial, performance and compliance auditing of public climate expenditure. The SAI in Nepal has a policy of citizen participation in audit (CPA), which supports national and subnational performance audits. In Indonesia, the SAI has offices in every province, and additional scrutiny is provided at the local level by provincial and district inspectorates. In Bangladesh, however, the SAI does not have a specific division or desk charged with oversight of climate programmes, which limits the scrutiny in this area.

Parliamentary committees can also play important oversight functions during the formulation and enactment of annual budgets and in ensuring that the government follows up on audit recommendations. In Bangladesh, several parliamentary standing committees are engaged with climate policy. In addition, an All-Party Parliamentary Group (APPG), established to provide capacity support and technical assistance to members of parliament (MPs), has a subgroup on climate change and the environment.

Legal and administrative requirements for public participation in climate-related public financial management and oversight are key in providing the mandates to ensure participation mechanisms and commitments to transparency. In each country the constitution establishes fundamental rights. In Bangladesh, the constitution states that citizens should have direct pathways for participation in and management of local government. However, provisions for participation in national budget processes are more limited. The constitution of Indonesia establishes public participation as a constitutional right, and this is then captured in the country's regulatory framework including in the National Development Planning System Law (2004) at the national level, and at the regional level in regulations such as Law No.23 on regional government. The constitution of Nepal guarantees the fundamental right of every citizen to live in a clean and healthy environment. This is embodied through Nepal's Environmental Protection Act (2019), which specifies provisions for engaging the public in climate-responsive and environmental protection activities. As part of this, the Environment Protection Rules (2020) stipulate the process and timeline for conducting public hearings and reporting.

5.2 Enabling factors that support public climate finance accountability

Formal and informal participation spaces for state and non-state actors are important mechanisms for public climate finance accountability.

Formal participation spaces follow from legal and administrative requirements. For example, under Indonesia's National Development Planning System Law, development planning should be carried out with the participation of the public at central and regional levels through a *Musyarawah* (consensus decision-making) process. The participation space in this process is known as the development planning discussion (*Musrenbang*). The *Musrenbang* is a formal space that begins in villages and goes up to district/city levels.

In Nepal's federal system, at the federal level, the Ministry of Finance has a pre-budget submission, and (limited) e-consultations during budget implementation, but there are no focused discussions or engagement. There is no separate mechanism for participation at the provincial level. At the local level, the Local Government Operation Act 2018 establishes civic mechanisms such as users' committees, and the 2018 local-level planning and budget formulation guidelines include provisions to make the process of local-level annual plan formulation and budget allocations participatory. There are several social accountability tools for budget monitoring (eg Follow the Money and public expenditure tracking surveys [PETS]) and technological tools, platforms and systems that enable citizens to engage in climate budget oversight to strengthen their role in the accountable use of public finance.

In Bangladesh, the Union Parishad (UP), the lowest administrative tier of government, facilitates at least two annual ward-level consultations ensuring representation from the communities within the ward jurisdiction. These are part of the Open Budget process, which includes a pre-budget meeting in February; a presentation of the proposed budget in April; and a mid-year progress meeting in November or December.

Informal participation spaces can be used for consultation, discussion, and engagement of citizens, which support greater awareness, community debate, and consensus-building. Such spaces at the community level may include discussions in village consultations, community forums and town hall meetings; discussions

in interest groups, such as mothers' groups, youth groups, senior citizens forums, buffer zone committees around national parks and wildlife reserves, disaster response committees and farmers' groups; or social media posts and pages on platforms such as Facebook and Twitter.

As well as these community spaces, across the countries, CSO actors have organised spaces to disseminate budget information where available, gather and coordinate input to submit to formal spaces, and support accountability processes. In relation to disseminating budget information, a national television show in Bangladesh, Kemon Budget Chai (2017–2018), presented views from different actors during the pre-budget phase, thus helping to widely disseminate considerations and different perspectives ahead of budget planning. In Bangladesh, the Climate Finance Governance Network (2010-2018) also worked to gather and disseminate international climate finance information to support accountability and transparency. The Democratic Budget Movement, a platform of CSOs and NGOs, which brings together citizens, taxpayers and professionals in different regions of Bangladesh to engage in the national budget process, and an alliance of 35 CSOs in Nepal that coordinates inputs to the government ahead of high-level global and national events, are key informal coordination mechanisms. The Climate Finance Accountability Initiative in Bangladesh is a CSO-led process whose objective is to analyse the climate budget and strengthen accountability, including by supporting social audits to ensure public participation in the climate budget process. Several CSOs across the countries also present post-budget analyses, which review budget allocations and highlight gaps and recommendations.

5.3 Scope and quality of public participation in climate change budgeting

The results of the analysis of public participation in climate change budgeting in Bangladesh, Indonesia and Nepal through the lens of the GIFT principles are presented in this section. Table 1 below provides basic characteristics of the cases of public participation that were examined in each country and is followed by short descriptions of each.

The government of Bangladesh has existing laws, policies and procedures to ensure public participation in national budget processes, especially at the local level. While there are no climate-specific processes, the 'open budget' process provides an opportunity for citizens to raise climate risks and priorities for minimising the negative impacts of climate change and building their resilience. The case study explored the planning and budget process at the Union Parishad (UP), the lowest administrative tier of the government. The UP is legally mandated to facilitate at least two ward-level consultations ensuring representation from the communities within the ward. Through the 'open budget' process, the UP: engages ward communities at a pre-budget meeting to propose, discuss and select a list of priorities; presents the approved budget to standing committees and local people and explains its final budget policy choices; and holds a mandatory midyear meeting with at least 5% of voters to report on the progress of the budget implementation.

Table 1: The stage of policy cycle, participation mechanism type and lead actor in the public participation case in the three case study countries.

COUNTRY	STAGE OF POLICY CYCLE	PARTICIPATION MECHANISM TYPE	LEAD ACTOR(S)
Bangladesh	Planning/budget formulation	Ongoing annual consultation	Union Parishad (smallest rural local government units)
Indonesia	Planning/budget formulation	Ongoing annual consultation	Village and district/municipal government
Nepal	Planning/budget formulation	Ongoing quarterly consultation	Nagarik Sajha Sabal (Citizens Common Concerns) initiative to collaborate with local government

In Indonesia, the case study focused on the Musrenbang process through which local governments encourage public participation in the drafting of the General Budget Policy (KUA) for regional revenues and expenditures as well as the Provisional Budget Priorities and Ceiling (PPAS). The Musrenbang discussion begins at the village, sub-district and district/ regency levels. To support public participation, a preannouncement should be issued seven days before the discussion. Formal community participation begins in January and goes through to June at the Musrenbang Desa, or the village development planning discussion. During these discussions, the village consultative body (BPD), the village government and sections of the community agree on the priority needs and problems that should be addressed in programmes and activities for the coming year. The results are then proposed to the Musrenbang Kecamatan, or sub-district development planning discussion. The outcome of this discussion informs the regional unit's strategic plan, the KUA, and the PPAS.

Although we analysed three cases of public participation in climate-related planning and budgeting processes in Nepal, this discussion focuses on the civil society-local government collaboration in the Ghorkha district, Gandaki province. In response to the limited capacity and lack of attention to using public financial resources to meet climate targets, CSOs in Ghorka formed the Nagarik Sajha Sabal (Citizens Common Concerns) initiative to elevate citizens' needs and priorities. Local governments also accepted the existence of this civic mechanism and expressed readiness for collaboration in planning and budgeting. In 2019, the local governments invited Citizens Common Concerns representatives to participate in formulating and implementing the budget. Every three to four months local governments held meetings with CSOs to review their collaborative work and receive feedback for improvements in performance. Prior to these meetings, the CSOs hold meetings to prepare feedback on issues, including climate change and environmentfriendly governance.

5.4 Case analysis using the GIFT principles

There are some common elements across the cases examined for the three countries – all are at the local level and during the planning and budget formulation process, and none were climate-specific. But they differ from one another in terms of the lead actor in the participation mechanism (ie Bangladesh and Indonesia were government-led legally mandated, while Nepal was civil society-led), the extent to which citizens could actively participate (ie in Nepal consultations continue throughout the year, while in Bangladesh and Indonesia

the consultation happens early in the planning and budget process), and the level of engagement (ie in both Bangladesh and Indonesia, levels of participation were more limited than that observed in Nepal). Despite these differences examining them against the GIFT principles can point to promising approaches as well as gaps.

Though none of the mechanisms focused exclusively on planning and budgeting for climate change, they all are mechanisms that should enable the informed use of public financial resources to invest in effective responses to negative climate impacts. That is not to say that there have not been climate-specific consultations in the countries. In Nepal, for example, between 2013 and 2017, as many as 17 village units of Gorkha had framed and rolled out Local Adaptation Plans of Action and Community Adaptation Plans of Action with direct public participation for implementing the adaptation plans. The fact that the participation mechanisms included in the studies were not climate specific should not be viewed negatively, as governments in the region have established integrated whole-ofgovernment approaches to planning and budgeting for climate responses. As climate responses, particularly adaptation, are typically integrated into regular development activities, separate, parallel processes for climate budgeting could undermine public finance governance that enables financial resources to be used efficiently and effectively to support development in the face of climate impacts.

Accessibility

Meaningful public participation in budget processes requires timely access to relevant fiscal information so that people can understand the government's plans for raising and spending public money and engage in ways that can shape policy or improve execution and oversight. This is especially true for climate change budgeting because lack of access to detailed, programme/project-level data impedes the effective connecting of government spending to identified adaptation or mitigation needs. Access to this kind of budget information was problematic across all three countries. In Indonesia, public access to local government processes and information is established in law, but in practice it is limited. The Local Budget Index, a study by the Indonesian Forum for Budget Transparency, reported a transparency score for the 70 districts and cities assessed of 0.58 out of 1, falling short of the measure's benchmark for adequate information for meaningful participation. In Bangladesh and Nepal, access to aggregate, climate-specific budget information at the national level is provided online and through climate budget reports, but citizens and civil society actors struggle to get more local-level, detailed data on funds for climate-related investments. In Bangladesh, weak capacity and lack of financial

resources for information dissemination were identified as factors that limited accessibility. One of the reasons cited for finalising the UP Budget in April was so that it could inform the national budget process. However, the lack of disaggregated information makes it unclear as to whether this happens in practice. In Nepal, there is no routine disclosure of climate-related performance information, including spending data, and this undermines timely and informed engagement of citizens and CSOs in climate change affairs.

Openness

In terms of how well-informed citizens in the study countries were about the participation processes, the results were mixed. In Nepal, every three to four months the local government holds meetings with the Citizen Common Concern (CCC) group (representatives from different associations and federations of communitybased organisations, the media, lawyers and teachers, as well as informal groups) to review their collaborative work. No strategic communication and engagement approach or mechanism was found to be used by government to reach out to the public in a targeted manner. Many of the communication mediums for public outreach, particularly online digital platforms, are not accessible by people experiencing poverty and marginalisation. Local government relies on the CCC to relay information to citizens on the types of feedback the government seeks. It gathers this information in community meetings and presents it to the government. While this symbiotic relationship is filling a gap in local government capacity, it falls short of ensuring that citizens have the information they need to fully participate directly. In Indonesia, we found that not all sections of society were aware of the agenda because the outreach to communities and groups on Musrenbang activities or other public participation forums was not adequate, which in turn lowered participation numbers. In Bangladesh, the legal framework (section 4 of the UP Act 2021) sets out with some clarity the process, timeline, relevant bodies and committees involved, functions, rules for who attends, and requirements for a quorum, but the UP process is weakened by practice and does not necessarily follow the law.

Inclusiveness

The mechanisms of public participation that were examined in all three countries lacked broad representation. This is especially problematic for climate budgeting as poverty, exclusion and other forms of marginalisation place people at higher risk of climate hazards. Bringing these people into planning and budget processes in ways that allow them to inform and influence the process requires capacity, resources

and will, but failure to do so risks poor policy choices and loss of public trust. In Bangladesh, the UP Open Budget process aims to include all groups by inviting all local CSOs, as well as representatives of other sectors, to participate in the meeting. It is mandated that the Ward Councillor announces the date, time and place of consultation, and invites women and men to join the consultation. However, based on our document review and interviews, no evidence was found of a substantial government-led effort to engage people in climate-related budgeting, particularly those most affected by climate change and often shut out of policy making and accountability processes. A concerted effort is needed to make spaces non-discriminatory and to facilitate participation of women, those suffering poverty and other marginalised groups. In Nepal, the range of representatives of different segments of the society within the CCC and the engagement of local media have helped channel information between government and citizens. But there is no civic structure or mechanism that represents marginalised people and those at risk from or suffering the impacts of climate change that would promote their participation and their voice around climate justice. However, with mounting pressure and collaboration between CSOs and local government, good practice has been initiated for allocating budgets for climate-vulnerable populations. In Indonesia, the Musrenbang mechanism is intended to engage citizens and non-state actors directly in planning and budgeting, including religious and community leaders and farmers, fishers, women, and student groups. In practice, though, it has not resulted in broad engagement, particularly of those who face various forms of marginalisation and are at greatest risk from the impacts of climate change.

Respect for self-expression

An important aspect of inclusiveness is to enable participants to use languages and ways of communicating that allow them to access relevant information and express their views accurately and effectively. Attention to this principle is essential to both the level of participation and the ability of participants to effectively influence outcomes. In the countries studied, this element was either subsumed within the lack of inclusion, as in Indonesia, or a contributing factor to it, as in Nepal, where asymmetry in access to information has made it difficult for underrepresented communities and people to engage in policy making and its evaluation. In Bangladesh, the UP budget process aims to create an enabling environment for communities and individuals to express their interests in their own way based on their needs, but the study did not find examples of this in practice.

Timeliness

To be meaningful, public participation mechanisms must happen on schedules that allow citizens to input to decisions and oversight processes when their inputs can actually make a difference to outcomes. The public should also have the opportunity to engage throughout the budget cycle. Across the three countries, the principle of timeliness appeared to be fulfilled in the mechanisms studied. In Nepal, the meetings of the CCC and local government take place in a timely manner in terms of informing policy and budget choices and happen throughout the entire cycle, though questions were raised about the flow of relevant and disaggregated information regarding climate policy before consultation. In Bangladesh, the timing of the pre-budget consultations allowed for citizen input in sufficient time to influence the UP's budget. In Indonesia there was some variation across regions in the Musrenbang, with some regions delaying the schedule. Factors leading to such delays included problems in organising the *Musrenbang* and document preparation.

Depth

The GIFT principle of depth is complementary to the principle of openness in that it goes beyond providing essential and logistical information on the particular engagement and intended outcomes, to provide citizens with complete information on policy/budget matters, priorities and potential impacts of choices to inform the discussion, as well as providing timely feedback on how public inputs were incorporated into final decisions. The latter is critically important for building trust in and understanding of the process, as well as supporting improvements in consultations on both the government and public sides. In Indonesia, the government provides a sufficient level of depth to support public involvement, but it fails to make this information accessible to all community members (eg simplifying language and using more graphics, or delivering it through radio or television broadcasts). In Nepal, the CCC civic mechanism to engage local government in policy and budget processes shares information with community members to gather their views, although the information is not accessible by all. The local governments do not issue any statement on how the public inputs are used in the final policy choices, including those related to climate change. Reporting back to citizens in Indonesia was also found to be suboptimal. While the government is required to gather and consider citizens' priorities and, when not acted upon, to explain why not, this does not appear to happen consistently. Respondents said that the public is only asked to hear and agree to the final policies to be carried out by the government. Similarly, in Bangladesh, the UP process provides the opportunity for government to provide some relevant information about choices and trade-offs on where the prepared budget differs from the prioritisation

determined in the public consultation, but the limited engagement of marginalised groups and poor reporting back on final budget decisions undermines public trust in the process.

Proportionality

With respect to whether the engagement mechanisms matched the scale and impact of the policy concerned, Bangladesh and Indonesia have formal consultations that theoretically could be proportionate but fall short in reality. In Nepal, the local government has not yet ensured formal consultation. Civil society-led participation in climate-related planning and budgeting in Nepal is beneficial but is insufficient for the scale and impact of failing to appropriately invest public funds in effective climate responses. However, with mounting pressure and collaboration between CSOs and local government, good practice has been initiated for allocating budget for climate-vulnerable populations. Local-level representatives have developed greater awareness of the need for and approach to green and inclusive development. In Indonesia, the Musrenbang process is central to determining policies, including budget policies, that meet public needs and priorities, so it merits substantial effort to maximise engagement. However, the outreach to communities and groups on Musrenbang activities or other public participation forums has been suboptimal, which has direct implications on broad participation. In Bangladesh, the formal process is not sufficient in that the UP is only required to hold consultations in two of the nine wards, and only 5% of the population must be involved. The limited scope is exacerbated by the lack of inclusion.

Sustainability

On the question of whether the state/non-state or public engagements studied in the countries lead to ongoing dialogue and increased trust, which is institutionalised and contributes to policy choices, the biggest threat across all three countries is the lack of inclusion in the participation mechanisms explored, and in Nepal the voluntary nature of the CCC mechanism. In Bangladesh and Indonesia, the local-level budget and planning mechanisms are institutionalised in law, so in that sense they are sustainable. While we observed that in Bangladesh there are some UPs engaging in more substantive consultations, this did not appear to be consistent over time or across UPs, leading to a call for stronger accountability measures to ensure compliance with the law. In Indonesia, the perceptions of elite capture threaten to undermine citizen trust and engagement and, thus, sustainability. In Nepal, the CCC mechanism in Ghorka benefits from the willingness of the local government to engage but without some effort to institutionalise public consultations, sustainability is not guaranteed.

Complementarity

With the exception of Nepal, which examines a civil society-led initiative, the participation mechanisms in the study countries fulfil the GIFT principle by ensuring that the mechanisms complement and increase the effectiveness of existing governance and accountability systems. In Bangladesh, the Open Budget UP process provides for direct citizen input but leaves the final decisions on budget preparation to the UPs, adding a means for citizen inputs in a way that strengthens the constitutional arrangements. In Indonesia, the results of the Musrenbang input into the preparation of the regional development plan, which becomes a guide in formulating the KUA and PPAS documents, embedding it into the formal requirements in the budgeting process.

Reciprocity

It is challenging to identify the extent to which the state and non-state entities involved in public participation are open about their mission, interests, and whom they represent – or whether they observe all agreed rules for engagement and cooperate to achieve the objectives of the engagement. In each of the countries studied, the government's commitment to open, inclusive and meaningful consultations was questioned, including respondents in Nepal and Indonesia raising concerns about elite capture of the processes. If a range of citizens and civil society groups are not engaging in the mechanisms, examining their transparency is difficult, if not impossible. In Nepal, while there is evidence that the non-state actors were open about their positions and agendas in the CCC mechanism, there is a concern that apparent capture of the formal government process impedes the genuine participation of people from diverse communities in formulating and implementing budget policies, thus risking the diversion of funds intended for climate response to activities with limited climate relevance. In Indonesia the Musrenbang has not generated the level of public engagement intended, but alternative spaces for participation can and have been created through commonly used informal participation spaces, including village consultations (Rembuk/ Musyawarah Desa), community forums, and other formats. If such informal participation is institutionalised as has happened through the Regional Regulation (Perda) No.1 of 2016 on village consultations to resolve conflicts in Lampung District, or Perda No.3 of 2019 on guidelines for drafting village regulations in Bantul district, the transparency of citizens and CSOs can be more readily assessed.

5.5 Political economy context factors that affect public participation in climate-related budgeting and accountability

In all three countries, public participation spaces have, to some degree, been co-opted by political actors, such as by legislators and community leaders who are close to those in positions of power, or officials who are involved in the implementation of formal or informal spaces for participation. In Nepal, there are informal committees and mechanisms that are powerful in informally lobbying and shaping discussions with authorities, and these are generally male-dominated and influenced by higher caste people, resulting in limited capture of the views of marginalised groups.

Several factors also more broadly inhibit community engagement and participation levels, including: a lack of information and responsiveness from the authorities in relation to public inputs -which discourages further inputs; a lack of awareness of the implementation of the formal consultations and participatory spaces - which signals lacking communication from the authorities; public perceptions that the discussions are only formalities – which again signal a lack of meaningful engagement and reciprocity from local authorities; poor facilities and infrastructure to support public participation; and an overall lack of transparency and accountability in budget development and implementation at all levels - which makes meaningful engagement hard from a citizen perspective.

There are also gaps in the oversight and accountability processes. For example, in Bangladesh, only the annual budget is shared for parliamentary input and approval, but not the mid-year revisions, which can be substantial.

The informal spaces opened by CSOs and NGOs have supported greater engagement and coordinated calls for more transparency and accountability. In Nepal, the formation of the network of CSOs, journalists, lawyers, teachers, civic groups and citizens was a gamechanging initiative to increase the negotiating power of citizens for participation in planning and budgeting, as well as to bridge the capacity and technical gap of local government in climate planning and budgeting. CSOs have been instrumental in increasing public participation in these processes. CSOs and the media are also important accountability actors in Nepal and have implemented several media campaigns and dialogue programmes.

Similarly, spaces for civil society participation in Bangladesh have been increasing in the last few years, as government efforts, such as the release of climate budget reports, have increased information and accessibility. Several CSOs in Bangladesh, including ActionAid Bangladesh, the International Centre on Climate Change and Development (ICCCAD) and the Democratic Budget Movement, are active in budget monitoring and engagement to support and facilitate civil society engagement. However, the government's climate budget report still lacks some aspects of accessibility, openness, and inclusiveness, particularly with regard to meaningful public engagement in the design or implementation process for assigning climate relevance to projects and activities - and CSOs are lobbying for improvements. There has also been some media participation to increase awareness and accountability in Bangladesh, such as through the prebudget phase TV programme.

The increasing importance of climate change means there is greater focus on the need for strong national frameworks. For example, Nepal is making efforts to put in place constitutional, legal and policy frameworks and institutional mechanisms to address the emerging and growing issues of climate financing and accountability.

5.6 Quantitative analysis of public contributions to the climate budget

As discussed in Section 2.3, Eskander and Steele's study (2019) on the climate-related expenditure of rural households in Bangladesh demonstrates that rural households spend almost US\$2 billion on disaster preparedness and response. In absolute terms, this is more than double the Bangladeshi government climate and disaster risk reduction spending and more than 12 times higher than multilateral international financing to Bangladesh's rural population.

As there are no existing datasets on household climaterelated expenditures, a similar analysis to update the data from the Bangladesh study, and to look at household expenditure in Indonesia and Nepal, was not possible within the scope of this study.

However, even a rough comparison of loss and damage from recent disasters versus national budget spending indicates a disparity between household needs and priorities and areas of government spending. For example, in Nepal, loss and damage is a major issue, with households affected by flooding, landslides and heavy rain. Such disasters caused damages to housing (US\$164.5 million in 2017), irrigation (US\$147.7 million in 2017), livestock (US\$90.3 million in 2017) and agriculture (US\$60.7 million in 2017), suggesting losses of over US\$463.2 million in 2017. The losses can be up to ten times households' annual earnings, which can lead families into a 'poverty trap'.

In comparison, Nepal's National Climate Change Budget was approximately US\$3.3 billion in 2017–2018. According to the Financial Comptroller General Office, only US\$1.4 billion (43%) was actually spent. Of the budget, only 9.1% was allocated to support housing and community amenities, 59.3% was allocated to general public services, 27.8% to economic affairs (agriculture, fuel and energy, and other economic activities), and 3.6% to environmental protection. This indicates a disparity between household priorities and government support.

Similarly, in Indonesia, loss and damage figures from forest and land fires during 2019 reached US\$5.3 billion, and from the Jakarta floods in 2013 reached US\$490 million. These events suggest disaster risk preparedness and improvement in infrastructure are key household needs.

Comparatively, the national climate change budget in 2018 was US\$7.6 million. Of this amount, US\$4.1 million was allocated to mitigation (particularly railway infrastructure and roads) and US\$2.6 million was allocated for adaptation (particularly dam construction, construction of flats and normalisation of rivers). These components of major spend of the national budget again suggest a mismatch between household-level priorities and needs, and national spending.

While the lack of household spending data makes it difficult to more accurately determine the misalignment between government and household climate disaster spending, the rough comparisons provide evidence that current public investment is inadequate and differently focused. Clearer data and analysis on how climate impacts are shaping household spending, and therefore priority areas, would help both the municipality and the federal government to plan for and provide better support for households and to complement household efforts. Improving public participation throughout the public budget process is a clear way to bring households into these essential conversations about impacts and priorities and who is bearing the burden in financing the country's responses to the climate crisis.

6

Conclusion and policy recommendations

Through the literature and document reviews and the country case studies, the research team is not able to reject either of the two hypotheses tested. With regard to the first hypothesis on public participation, in all three countries studied, the governments fell short of providing spaces for citizens, CSOs, and others to engage in climate budgeting and oversight. This weak performance on participation was seen across all three countries and at national and subnational levels, even though the governments in the countries acknowledge the importance of public input to decisions on climate mitigation and adaptation investments and strong accountability. While capacity issues were cited in each country, there was strong evidence that political forces are a major factor.

The findings are not surprising in that global comparative assessments, like the Open Budget Survey, find that few countries provide meaningful opportunities for the public to participate in the budget process. However, there are now norms and standards for public participation in PFM processes, like the GIFT principles that are integrated into the OBS and PEFA, to help guide governments in designing and implementing – and ultimately assessing – public engagement mechanisms, as well as emerging models

being piloted.⁵ While this analysis used the principles as a broad frame for these initial case studies into participation in climate budgeting, there is further potential to develop and test a robust comparative diagnostic and assessment tool that could be incorporated into a GIFT assessment framework.

To address these issues, governments should explicitly adopt the GIFT principles and illustrate how they are adhering to these principles in practice. Specific recommendations for the case study countries include the following:

- As governments may lack the capacity for engaging traditionally marginalised people, they could partner with CSOs or other organisations that have connections to these groups. These organisations could help to inform them through accessible language and presentations of climate budget choices, and bring them directly into formal and informal engagement in ways that allow diverse voices to be heard.
- Governments must support public participation and broader public accountability by disclosing timely, accessible and comprehensive information on the budget, broken down by activities being funded.

⁴In the Open Budget Survey 2019 assessment of public participation, few of the 117 countries surveyed provide opportunities for public participation in the budget, and even fewer do so in ways that align with the GIFT principles. See International Budget Partnership, 2020, 2019 p. 48. www.internationalbudget.org/sites/default/files/2020-04/2019_Report_EN.pdf

⁵International Budget Partnership, 2020, pp. 53-56; and GIFT Public Participation Case Studies at https://fiscaltransparency.net/case-studies

- As several national ministries play key roles in the national level structure for climate budgeting, close coordination between these ministries is essential to ensure effective public participation.
- Structures to support coordination and development at the national level should be vertically integrated through the government system – that is, implemented also in subnational government authorities – to ensure local-level participation.
- Several processes must come together to support meaningful participation spaces, including the training and sensitisation of government officials on the need for such spaces and on how to facilitate them.
- Governments should increase trust in and accountability for public participation by: a) building a mechanism or instrument that regularly reviews and reports on the public participation process; and b) informing participants in consultations or other engagements on how their inputs were used in decisions. Citizens should also be made aware of the different participation opportunities and be able to voice concerns around participation processes, and highlight capacity issues, perceptions of elite capture, and other barriers to meaningful participation.

On the second hypothesis on the collection and integration of household spending data on climate change, the study finds that there is no specific effort to define climate-related household spending and collect the data in any of the three countries studied. Using the extremely limited data that is available, it was possible to make some cursory conclusions about the misalignment between government climate expenditure and household spending. While these conclusions should not be seen as definitive, they point to how household spending data could inform government targeting of resources to better align with people's needs and priorities.

There is an urgent need for countries to undertake climate household expenditure reviews. These can be integrated into general expenditure reviews of the government, which are often supported by the World Bank and other development partners. Once available, this data can guide government and donor spending on climate to ensure alignment with household priorities and needs. Making such data publicly available, along with comprehensive and timely climate-related budget information, is an essential factor in ensuring effective climate-related public finance management and robust public accountability.

In addition to providing decision makers with valuable information on the needs and priorities of the people facing the greatest threats from climate change, the quantitative analysis supports the argument for public participation in budgeting and oversight by showing that the public are already partners in financing countries' responses to the climate crisis. As with donors and the private sector, households' direct investments contribute to the pot of financial resources available to mitigate the causes of climate change and build resilient and sustainable economies and societies. To ensure that governments adequately connect public investments with people's needs and priorities, efforts to understand household spending are needed. This can best be achieved through, for example, household climate expenditure reviews which can be integrated into World Bank-supported household expenditure surveys.

Further analysis and consultation, led by citizens and CSOs, is needed to understand the impediments to public participation in climate budgeting and financing. This could include:

- Designing and testing a GIFT assessment framework that scores governments on their adherence to the GIFT principles.
- Further analysis on the barriers to public participation for marginalised groups (on the basis of sex, gender sex, gender, ethnicity, economic status, work or other forms of discrimination).
- 'Action research' in selected countries of public participation and oversight in climate budgeting, which would document the process and results, and draw lessons.

References

Arnstein, S (1969) A Ladder of Citizen Participation. Journal of the American Institute of Planners 35(4): 216-224.

Brysk, A (2000) Democratizing Civil Society in Latin America. Journal of Democracy 11(3): 151-165.

Chandhoke, N (2009) Participation, Representation, and Democracy in Contemporary India. American Behavioral Scientist 52(6): 807-825.

Cleaver, F (2001) Institutions, Agency and the Limitations of Participatory Approaches to Development. In: Cooke, B and Kothari, U (eds) Participation: The New Tyranny?: 36-55. Zed Books, London, UK.

Cleaver, F (2004) Paradoxes of Participation: Questioning Participatory Approaches to Development. In: Edwards, M and Fowler, A (eds) The Earthscan Reader on NGO Management. Earthscan, Sterling, VA.

Cornwall, A and Coelho, V (eds) (2007) Spaces for Change? The Politics of Participation in New Democratic Arenas. Zed Books, London, UK.

de Wit, J and Berner, E (2009) Progressive Patronage? Municipalities, NGOs, CBOs and the Limits to Slum Dwellers' Empowerment. Development and Change 40(5): 927-947.

Eckstein, D, Kuenzel, V and Schaefer, L (2021) Global Climate Risk Index 2021. Germanwatch eV, 202, Bonn. https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/ Global%20Climate%20Risk%20Index%202021_1_0. pdf

Eskander, S and Steele, P (2019) Bearing the climate burden: how rural households in Bangladesh are spending too much. IIED, London. https://pubs.iied. org/16643IIED

Fölscher, A, McCullough, D and Nicholson, K (2018) Budgeting for a Greener Planet. United Nations Development Programme, Bangkok. www. internationalbudget.org/publications/budgeting-greenerplanet

Fox, JA (2015) Social Accountability: What Does the Evidence Really Say? World Development 72: 346-361.

Fritzen, S (2007) Can the Design of Community-Driven Development Reduce the Risk of Elite Capture? Evidence from Indonesia. World Development 35(8): 1359-1375.

Gaventa, J and Barrett, G (2010) So What Difference Does it Make? Mapping the Outcomes of Citizen Engagement. IDS Working Paper 347: 1-72. Institute of Development Studies, Brighton, UK.

Global Initiative for Fiscal Transparency (GIFT) (2017) Public Participation Principles Guide, Bangladesh Public Consultation in the Local Budget Process: Open Budget session. https://fiscaltransparency. net/consultation-publique-au-processus-de-labudgetisation-locale-aubangladesh-session-budgetouvert/

Global Initiative for Fiscal Transparency (2016) Principles of Public Participation in Fiscal Transparency. 13 March. https://fiscaltransparency.net/publicparticipation-principles-and-guide/ (accessed 11 November 2019)

Global Initiative for Fiscal Transparency (undated) Public Participation Case Studies https://fiscaltransparency. net/case-studies

Hickey, S and Mohan, G (2004) Relocating Participation within a Radical Politics of Development: Insights from Political Action and Practice. In: Hickey, S and Mohan, G (eds) Participation: From Tyranny to Transformation? Zed Books, London, UK.

Indonesia Fiscal Policy Agency, Ministry of Finance (2019) Public Funding for Indonesia's 2016–2018 Climate Change Control. https://fiskal.kemenkeu.go.id/ data/document/buku/Buku-PCF.pdf

International Budget Partnership (2020) Open Budget Survey 2019. www.internationalbudget.org/sites/ default/files/2020-04/2019_Report_EN.pdf

International Television Channel Limited (NTV), Kemon Budget Chai (the Budget We Want) (Dhaka: NTV), https://en.ntvbd.com/business/167033/Kemon-Budget-Chai-programme-aired-on-NTV

Lister, R (1998) Citizen in Action: Citizenship and Community Development in a Northern Ireland Context. Community Development Journal 33(3): 226-235, p. 238.

Mahmud, S (2007) Spaces for Participation in Health Systems in Rural Bangladesh: The Experience of Stakeholder Community Groups. In Cornwall, A and Coelho, V (2007) Spaces for Change? The Politics of Participation in New Democratic Arenas. Zed Books, London, UK.

Mercier, H and Landemore, H (2012) Reasoning Is for Arguing: Understanding the Successes and Failures of Deliberation. Political Psychology 33(2): 243-258.

Navarro, Z (2010) Porto Alegre: From Municipal Innovations to the Culturally Embedded Micro-Politics of (Un)Emancipated Citizens: The Case of Rubbish Recyclers. Participation and Democracy in the Twenty-First Century City. J. Pierce. Palgrave Macmillan, New York.

O'Keefe, E and Hogg C (1999) Public participation and marginalized groups: the community development model. Health Expectations. December 1999, 2(4): 245-254.

Patel S, McCullough, D, Steele, P, Schalatek, L, Guzmán, S and Hossain, T (2021) Tackling gender inequality and climate change through the budget: A look at gender-responsive climate change budgeting in Bangladesh and Mexico. International Budget Partnership.

Pratt, B (2019) Inclusion of marginalized groups and communities in global health research priority-setting. Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics, 14(2): 169-181.

Putnam, R (1993) Making Democracy Work: Civic Traditions in Modern Italy. Princeton University Press, NJ.

Rigon, A (2014) Building Local Governance: Participation and Elite Capture in Slum-upgrading in Kenya. Development and Change 45(2): 257-283.

Soanes, M, Rai, N, Steele, P, Shakya, C and Macgregor, J (2017) Delivering real change: getting international climate finance to the local level. IIED Working Paper. IIED, London. http://pubs.iied.org/10178IIED

Sunstein, CR (2002) The Law of Group Polarization. Journal of Political Philosophy 10(2): 175–195. doi: 10.1111/1467-9760.00148.

Surowiecki, J (2004) The Wisdom of Crowds: Why the Many Are Smarter than the Few and How Collective Wisdom Shapes Business, Economies, Societies, and Nations. Doubleday Anchor, New York.

Touchton, M and Wampler, B (2013) Improving Social Well-Being Through New Democratic Institutions. Comparative Political Studies, 47(10): 1–28.

World Bank (2017) World Development Report 2017: Governance and the Law. World Bank, Washington, DC.

Other works consulted

Achen, CH and Bartels, LM (2017) Democracy for realists: Why elections do not produce responsive government. Princeton University Press.

Asnuddin, A (2010) Pendekatan partisipatif dalam pembangunan proyek infrastruktur Perdesaan di Indonesia. [Participatory approach in the development of rural infrastructure projects in Indonesia]. SMARTek. 2010, 8(3).

Christensen, K, Nasir Uddin, AM, Raihan, S, Rubayat, A, Saleh Ahmed, C, Wright, H (2012) Financing Local Adaptation: Ensuring Access for the Climate Vulnerable in Bangladesh (Dhaka). ActionAid Bangladesh, Action Research for Community Adaptation in Bangladesh, Bangladesh Centre for Advanced Studies, and International Centre for Climate Change and Development.

Eusuf, MA (14 September 2020) Open budget survey: How does Bangladesh fare? The Financial Express, https://thefinancialexpress.com.bd/views/open-budgetsurvey-how-does-bangladesh-fare-1600098362

Freedom Forum (2019) Nepal's Citizen Climate Budget. Where is Nepal's Money Being Spent? (2018-19), Kathmandu, Nepal.

Funder, M (2010) The Social Shaping of Participatory Spaces: Evidence from Community Development in Southern Thailand. Journal of Development Studies 46(10): 1708-1728.

Government of Bangladesh (2009) Bangladesh Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan (BCCSAP) http:// nda.erd.gov.bd/en/c/publication/bangladesh-climatechange-strategy-action-plan-bccsap-2009

Government of Bangladesh, Ministry of Finance (2020) Climate Financing for Sustainable Development Budget Report 2020-21. https://mof.portal.gov.bd/sites/ default/files/files/mof.portal.gov.bd/page/6e496a5b_ f5c1_447b_bbb4_257a2d8a97a1/2020-2021_ Climate_BR_English.pdf

Government of Indonesia, Ministry of Environment and Forestry (2018) Indonesia Second Biennial Update Report. Jakarta. https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/ resource/Indonesia-2nd_BUR.pdf

Government of Nepal (undated) Nepal Disaster Risk Reduction Portal. http://drrportal.gov.np/reports

Government of Nepal (2011) Nepal Climate Public Expenditure and Institutional Review Kathmandu, Nepal. www.climatefinance-developmenteffectiveness. org/sites/default/files/documents/05_02_15/Nepal_ CPEIR_Report_2011.pdf

Government of Nepal, Ministry of Home Affairs (2016) Disaster Risk Reduction in Nepal: Achievements, Challenges, and Ways Forward. National Position Paper for the Asian Ministerial Conference on Disaster Risk Reduction. Kathmandu.

Government of Nepal, Ministry of Agriculture Development (2017a) A Report on Public Expenditure Tracking Survey of Small Irrigation Special Program in Nepal.

Government of Nepal (2017b) User Manual: Subnational Treasury Regulatory Application-SuTRA, Rural Municipal and Municipal Formulation and Accounting Software.

Government of Nepal, Ministry of Finance (2017c) Climate Change Financing Framework. Kathmandu.

Government of Nepal, National Planning Commission (2017d) Post Flood Recovery Needs Assessment. www.npc.gov.np/images/category/PFRNA Report Final.pdf

Government of Nepal, Ministry of Finance (2018) The State of Climate Finance in Nepal. Kathmandu.

Government of Nepal, Ministry of Forest and Environment (2020) Policy Alignment to Advance Climate-Resilient Development in Nepal: Opportunities and Way Forward. Kathmandu.

International Budget Partnership (2011) Guide to Transparency in Government Budget Reports. Guideto-Transparency-in-Government-Budget-Reports-Whyare-Budget-Reports-Important-and-What-Should-They-Include-English.pdf (internationalbudget.org)

JBA Risk Management Limited (undated) A Retrospective view of Floods in Jakarta. Skipton, UK. www.jbarisk.com/flood-services/event-response/aretrospective-view-of-floods-in-jakarta/

Mercy Corps (2019a) Budget governance for disaster risk reduction and climate change adaptation under Nepal's new federal system. Policy Brief. https:// reliefweb.int/report/nepal/budget-governance-disasterrisk-reduction-and-climate-change-adaptation-undernepals

Mercy Corps (2019b) Budget Governance for Disaster Risk Reduction and Climate Change Adaptation in Nepal's New Federal System.

Nepal Central Bureau of Statistics (CBS) (2016) National Climate Change Impact Survey (A Statistical Report). Kathmandu Nepal.

PEFA Secretariat (2020) Public Expenditure and Financial Accountability: Climate Responsive Public Financial Management Framework (PEFA Climate). 4 August Version, www.pefa.org/resources/climateresponsive-public-financial-management-frameworkpefa-climate-piloting-phase

Sekretariat Nasional Forum Indonesia untuk Transparansi Anggaran (Seknas FITRA) (2017) Laporan Local Budget Index 2017 Jakarta. https://seknasfitra. org/publication/laporan-local-budget-index-2017-hasilpenelitian-di-70-kabupaten-kota/

Setiawan, A (2015) Political Budget: Kebijakan Dana Bagi Hasil Migas Dalam APBD Kabupaten Bojonegoro Tahun 2015 [Political Budget: Oil and Gas Revenue Sharing Fund Policy in the 2015 Bojonegoro Regency's APBD]. Surabaya: Thesis, Airlangga University.

Touchton, M and Wampler, B (2017) Democracy at Work: Moving Beyond Elections to Improve Well-Being. American Political Science Review 111(May), 68-82.

Transparency International Bangladesh (undated) Climate Finance Governance Network, Bangladesh List of CFGN Members. www.ti-bangladesh.org/files/ list%20of%20CFGN%20Members.pdf

World Bank (2016) Keeping Indonesia's Capital Safer from Floods. www.worldbank.org/in/news/ feature/2016/01/08/keeping-indonesias-capital-saferfrom-floods

World Bank (undated) Indonesia Economic Quarterly Reports (IEQ). Washington DC: World Bank, Accessed February 2021, www.worldbank.org/en/country/ indonesia/publication/indonesia-economic-quarterlyreports

Annexes

Annex 1: Table of accountability entry points

The conceptual framework presented in Table 1 defines 16 components of climate-sensitive budgeting (referred to as 'climate budgeting') and then considers the transparency requirements and potential roles of each accountability actor (AA) in each stage (through both horizontal and vertical accountability mechanisms). The framework lays out a model for accountability in climate finance that includes actors, institutions and processes. The accountability roles are colour-coded by whether they reflect or contribute primarily to: a) improved access to information (green); b) improved participation (red); and c) improved action by oversight institutions (blue).

Table 1: Conceptual framework for accountability in climate budgeting

CLIMATE BUDGETING COMPONENTS

TRANSPARENCY REQUIREMENTS

POTENTIAL ROLES OF ACCOUNTABILITY ACTORS

Planning and policy institutions underlying budgets

- Inserting climate change (CC) mitigation and adaptation considerations in strategies (e.g., a CC strategy, or development, sector or institutional strategies that incorporate CC), including budget implications that would be reflected in a budget strategy paper (BSP) and/or other prebudget documents
- National, sector, and climate change strategies are publicly available, accessible, and set out in formats that are useful for identifying CC mitigation and adaptation issues and actions
- Financing chapters of strategies and plans are sufficiently disaggregated and/ or include assessment of cost of climate change measures
- CSOs (including those with CC or public finance expertise and those representing CC vulnerable populations, communities, and sectors) participate in strategy preparation around the degree to which CC considerations are included in strategies
- Media & CSOs review and raise awareness of CC strategies and their inclusion in pre-budget documents
- Parliamentary CC committee (PCCC) and budget/finance committee debates and comments on CC strategy and BSP/prebudget documents
- Parliament reviews and comments on CC strategies and BSP/pre-budget documents

Macro-fiscal institutions

- CC risks are incorporated into macro-fiscal forecasts, policies, and sensitivity analyses (Offbudget CC financing and expenditures are included in fiscal framework forecasts, policies, and analysis)
- CC parameters and assumptions underlying macrofiscal forecasts and their use in forecasting models are public
- Outcomes from macro-fiscal sensitivity analyses are public and available in pre-budget papers and/or the Executive's Budget Proposal
- Timely and comprehensive information is available on off-budget CC financing and expenditures
- Academic institutions/CSOs undertake and publish work on fiscal space and fiscal impact of CC factors to support accountability actors' assessments of CC and fiscal frameworks
- Academic institutions/CSOs comment and engage finance ministry or equivalent on how CC is incorporated into macro-fiscal models / forecasts and policies
- PCCC and budget/finance committee debates implications of CC for fiscal policy and vice versa, and robustness of inclusion of CC risks in macro-fiscal processes

CLIMATE BUDGETING COMPONENTS

TRANSPARENCY REQUIREMENTS

POTENTIAL ROLES OF ACCOUNTABILITY ACTORS

Revenue institutions

- Tax/revenue policies support CC mitigation, and CC-linked tax measures are fair, efficient, and effective, and administered fairly
- Public information is available on total body of cumulative tax/ revenue measures
 - Tax/revenue policy proposals are published before enactment
 - In-year reports include disaggregated revenue and tax data to enable monitoring of implementation
 - Audit reports include assessment of the reliability of on-budget CC-linked revenue accounts
- Academic institutions/CSOs undertake and publish work on fairness and efficiency of CC-linked tax measures and CC impact of tax system and proposals to support parliament and other accountability actors to hold government to account for decisions
- CSOs scrutinise and analyse In-Year, Year-End, and Audit Reports on CClinked revenue and include findings in engagement with finance ministry and other public actors
- CSOs/media/academic institutions monitor implementation and raise awareness of tax policy impacts, and media reports on unfair application of CC-linked tax measures
- PCCC and budget/finance committee debates CC impact of tax measures and proposals, and of CC-linked tax proposals
- Relevant parliamentary committees scrutinise In-year, Year-end, and Audit reports on CC-linked revenue

- Off-budget CC revenue flows are transparent to the finance ministry and the public and monitored
- In-year and year-end revenue reports include information on off-budget CC revenue flows
- Audit reports include assessment of the reliability of off-budget CC revenue accounts
- CSOs scrutinise and analyse In-year, year-end, and audit reports on offbudget revenue and include findings in engagement with finance ministries and other public actors
- CSOs/media/academic institutions monitor management of off-budget revenue flows and raise awareness of impacts and problems

Intergovernmental institutions (where relevant)

- Intergovernmental grant system and rules for subnational borrowing include due attention to CC considerations, including
- the weighting of intergovernmental grants for CC relevance
- consideration of CC issues in conditions for subnational borrowing
- Rules and conditions for, and approvals of, subnational borrowing are transparent
- Intergovernmental grant budgets and realization are public, including conditions and an analysis of CC relevance
- CSOs assess intergovernmental grant system design, budgets, and implementation for CC commitments and include their findings in engagement with relevant executive institutions and parliament
- Media reports on and publicises CC-financing issues arising out of intergovernmental grant system
- PCCC and/or budget/finance committees includes intergovernmental system in its system and annual review and accountability processes

CLIMATE BUDGETING COMPONENTS	TRANSPARENCY REQUIREMENTS	POTENTIAL ROLES OF ACCOUNTABILITY ACTORS				
Public Expenditure Institutions						
6. Ministry of Finance (MOF) issues guidelines to line ministries (LMs) on incorporating CC into their budget submissions, including regulations and technical instructions Budget submission requirements include request for information on LM CC interventions financed off-budget (including through donor financing in developing countries)	Budget guidelines are made available on MOF websites	 CSOs available to provide input into guidelines/instructions CSOs review guidelines/instructions to ensure that CC issues are included, adequate, and appropriate PCCC and/or budget/finance committees debates guidelines 				
7. LMs respond to CC guidelines in their programme design work and budget submissions	No direct transparency dimension	 CSOs support LMs in integrating CC into programme design and budget submissions Media report on proposed CC programmes 				
8. Classifying CC relevance (the percentage of a project or program that relates to CC) and "real-time" monitoring of CC weighted expenditure during budget negotiations	Approach to and methodology to weight expenditure for CC relevance is publicly available	 CSOs support and validate LM work to define CC percentages Media and CSOs monitor and report on CC expenditure trends during budget negotiations CSOs testify on CC priorities, proposed CC expenditures and weights PCCC and/or budget/finance committees reviews and comments on weighted expenditure trends 				
Budget approval includes commitment to weighted CC expenditure targets	 Pre-budget statement sets out aggregate proposed expenditure for CC Executive's budget proposal sets out details of proposed expenditure and expected results for CC 	 PCCC and/or budget/finance committees hold hearings and debate CC provisions in budget, and parliament approves CC provisions in budget CSOs participate in budget hearings on CC CSOs and media help public understand CC aspects of the enacted budget (eg including accessible non-technical presentations of CC in articles, broadcasts, and citizens budgets) 				
10. LMs and subnational governments execute CC-related expenditure in enacted budget	Systems to enable tracking of CC weighted expenditure, either ex post or through real-time mechanisms, such as tagging and coding through the expenditure management and accounting system Performance information systems to track effectiveness and efficiency of CC weighted expenditure	 CSOs use public budgets and publicly available information on budget execution at the subnational level to monitor spending and service delivery on CC projects and programmes CSOs engage local officials, parliamentarians, and government officials on issues related to execution and performance of CC funds CSOs and media publicise progress on execution, including mismanagement and misuse of CC funds 				

CLIMATE BUDGETING COMPONENTS

11. In-year reports, including monthly accounts, include CCweighted spending

In-year reports are available on off-budget CC expenditure, particularly for dedicated and off-budget climate change funds

TRANSPARENCY REQUIREMENTS

- · Public and accessible inyear reports with sufficient disaggregation and/ or reporting against CC commitments
- Public and accessible In-Year Reports on dedicated and offbudget climate change funds.

POTENTIAL ROLES OF ACCOUNTABILITY **ACTORS**

- CSOs and media monitor in-year Reports and investigate variance between budgeted and actual expenditures and revenues
- CSOs support parliamentary in-year review processes, for example by participating in hearings or sharing analysis with committees
- PCCC and/or budget/finance committees monitor and debate In-Year Reports (onand off-budget) and investigate variance between budgeted and actual expenditures and revenues
- Parliament, CSOs, and media comment on in-year Reports

- 12. Mid-year supplementary budgets
- Explanatory documentation submitted with the mid-year supplementary budgets sets out revised aggregate and detailed CC expenditure and financial and nonfinancial performance to date
- PCCC and/or budget/finance committees and parliament debates/approves CC relevance of supplementary budget proposals
- CSOs participate in parliamentary hearings and advise finance ministry on revised financing of CC priorities and performance to date, based on policy/trends
- Media analyses and reports on options for CC priorities

13. Year-End Report includes CCweighted expenditure

> Year-End reports include information on off-budget CC expenditure, including expenditure funded by donors

- Ministry, department, and agency and/or aggregate Year-End Report provides information on CC-weighted expenditure and performance and off-budget CC expenditure and performance
- PCCC, budget/finance committees and/ or sector committees reviews year-end reports and interrogate public officials on expenditure and performance
- CSOs and media review and comment on annual accounts
- CSOs participate in any hearings by parliament on year-end reports

14. CC expenditure weighting is audited, and audited financial statements include audited CC weighted expenditure

Off-budget CC expenditure is routinely audited as part of supreme audit institution (SAI) mandate

Public accounts committee recommendations include attention to CC weighted expenditure

- Audit reports for general government are submitted to parliament and public
- Audit reports include section on reliability of information in public accounts on CC weighted expenditure
- · Public accounts committee (or equivalent) recommendations are public
- Government responses to public accounts committee recommendations are public

- SAI audit CC weighted accounts and performance information
- In cases where SAI has policy/ performance auditing capacity, SAI comments on methods used to produce the weighted expenditure
- CSOs undertake social audits of CCrelated expenditure
- CSOs and media analyse and publicise
 - SAI audit findings
 - social audit findings
 - public accounts committee recommendations on CC expenditure and progress on government responses to recommendations; and
 - performance information on CC expenditure
- SAIs engage civil society as part of risk assessment of public expenditure and public institutions for auditing

CLIMATE BUDGETING COMPONENTS	TRANSPARENCY REQUIREMENTS	POTENTIAL ROLES OF ACCOUNTABILITY ACTORS
15. Comprehensive annual CC monitoring report is undertaken, including information on, and analysis of, the flows and performance of CC-linked tax measures; CC weighted budget expenditure; and CC off-budget expenditure	Annual CC monitoring report is publicly available	 CSOs participate in preparation of report, bringing information from expenditure and service delivery monitoring and social auditing activities CSOs and media comment on report PCCC and/or budget/finance committees scrutinise report, hold hearings, and call government officials to account for flow of funds and performance
16. Occasional evaluation/ program review reports by the government and/or SAIs updating evidence on policy, programme, and project effectiveness, efficiency, economy, and impact, and CC weightings	Evaluation TORs and report are public	 CSOs involved in evaluations, including by providing technical expertise, evidence, and viewpoints and/or acting as evaluators CSOs provide independent assessment of evaluations Media reports on evaluations PCCC debates evaluations and calls for wider parliamentary debate, if necessary

Note: improved transparency - green; participation - red; oversight - blue

Annex 2: Cross-country summary

1. WHICH COMPONENTS OF A CLIMATE CHANGE BUDGETING AND ACCOUNTABILITY SYSTEM ARE IN PLACE?

Bangladesh

Frameworks: CPEIR (2012), CCFF (2014), climate budget reports (annually, starting from FY 2016–17).

Expenditure management is led by the MoF, with partial consultation with Parliament.

The SAI does not have a specific division or desk charged with the oversight of climate programs.

The Implementation Monitoring and Evaluation Division (IMED) has provided very little scrutiny to climate-related projects. The All-Party Parliamentary Group (APPG) has a subgroup on climate.

The Constitution of Bangladesh (2016) states that its citizens should have direct pathways for participation in and management of local government.

Indonesia

Frameworks: CCFF (2012), CPEIR (selected provinces) (2015/16), climate budget tagging (CBT) (2016).

Expenditure management is led by the MoF at central level, and the Budget User Authority at regional level. The Indonesia Climate Change Trust Fund, set up in 2009, collects and coordinates various sources of climate finance.

The SAI provides some climate finance scrutiny, with offices in every province. Additional scrutiny is provided from provincial and district inspectorates at local level.

The Constitution of Indonesia establishes public participation as a constitutional right. The National Development Planning System Law (SPPN) (2004) stipulates that any development planning related to the public interest must provide spaces for the public to be involved.

Nepal

Frameworks: CPEIR (national) (2011), climate budget code (national and provincial level) (FY 2012–13), CCFF (2017).

Expenditure management is led MoF and supported by the Financial Comptroller General Office.

The SAI carries out some financial, performance, and compliance auditing of climate public expenditures, and has a policy of Citizen Participation in Audit. There is no House of Representative committee specifically for climate or environment.

The Constitution of Nepal (2015) guarantees the fundamental right of every citizen to live in a clean and healthy environment. The Environmental Protection Act (2019) specifies provisions for engaging the public in climate-responsive and environmental protection activities. The Environment Protection Rules (2020) stipulate the process and timeline for conducting public hearings and reporting.

2. TO WHAT EXTENT IS AN ENABLING ENVIRONMENT FOR PUBLIC CLIMATE FINANCE ACCOUNTABILITY (CFA) SUPPORTED?

Bangladesh

The Union Parishad (UP), the lowest administrative tier of government, facilitates at least two annual ward-level consultations ensuring representation from the communities within the Ward jurisdiction. This part of the Open Budget process, which includes a pre-budget meeting in February; a presentation of the proposed budget in April; and a mid-year progress meeting in Nov/Dec.

CSO actors have developed several informal spaces for public participation, including:

- post-budget analysis by CSOs
- Climate Finance Governance Network (2010–2018), to track international climate finance
- Democratic Budget Movement, a platform of CSOs and NGOs working to create an enabling environment for citizens, taxpayers, and professionals in different regions of the country to engage in the national budget process.
- Kemon Budget Chai ('The Budget We Want') (2017–2018), a television show by the International Television Channel Limited (NTV), focused on an exchange of views from different actors during the pre-budget phase
- Climate Finance Accountability Initiative, a CSO-led process to analyse the climate budget, including supporting social audit to ensure public participation in the climate budget process.

Indonesia

Under the National Development Planning System Law (2004), development planning should be carried out with the participation of the public at central and regional levels through a 'Musyarawah' (consensus decision-making) process. This space is known as the development planning discussion (*Musrenbang*). The *Musrenbang* is a formal space that begins in villages and goes up to district/city levels.

In local development budgeting, public participation is carried out through public consultations, discussions, and/or deliberations for the drafting of the General Budget Policy for regional revenues and expenditures as well as the Provisional Budget Priorities and Ceiling (PPAS).

Informal spaces commonly used at community level include village consultations (rembuk/musyawarah desa), community forums, and other local formats such as village meetings.

Nepal

At federal level, the MoF has a prebudget submission, and (limited) e-consultations during budget implementation, however, no focused discussions or engagement. At provincial level there is no separate mechanism. At the local level, the Local Government Operation Act 2018 establishes civic mechanisms such as users' committees, and the 2018 locallevel planning and budget formulation guidelines include provisions to make the process of local-level annual plan formulation and budget allocations participatory. There are several social accountability tools for budget monitoring (e.g., Follow the Money and public expenditure tracking surveys [PETS]) and technological tools, platforms, and systems enable citizens to engage in climate budget oversight to strengthen their role in the accountable use of public finance.

CSO spaces include:

- An alliance consisting of 35 CSOs are coordinating to submit inputs to the government ahead of high-level global and national climate change events.
- Kachahari (town hall meetings), social media (Facebook and Twitter), mothers' groups, youth groups, senior citizens forums, buffer zone committees around national parks and wildlife reserves, disaster response committees, flooddisplaced struggle committees, small farmers' groups/cooperatives, and climate school of farmers.

3. FINDINGS OF PARTICIPATION IN A BUDGET PROCESS AGAINST GIFT PRINCIPLES

Bangladesh

The Open Budget process is well timed to be able to input meaningfully into budget preparation, budget approval and budget implementation and oversight processes (timeliness). However, in practice, the inputs allow for limited level of openness, depth, inclusiveness, and reciprocity, and more closely resembles a process to fulfil procedural requirements as a formality rather than for any meaningful participation. The information provided by the government generally lacks the detail needed for the public to build a clear picture of how the budget will be invested or to engage in decisionmaking or oversight processes (accessibility). Although the strong legislation and embeddedness in the decentralisation process supports an element of sustainability, the process

non-compliance (**sustainability**). The mechanism is also very limited in engaging, including provides resources to support the engagement of, women or other marginalised or vulnerable groups (**inclusiveness**), nor does it provide **proportionality** through broader spaces that provide **respect for self-expression**.

activities are not necessarily carried out

consistently and would benefit from a

monitoring and reporting mechanism

that provides consequences for

Indonesia

The Musrenbang process starts at the village level, to agree priority needs for the next year, which are then brought forward in forums as the process develops to higher tiers of administration, to support the integration of these priorities in regional and national strategic plans (depth). This direct integration into the policy development process supports sustainability and complementarity. The activities are intended to run from January to June, however, these schedules are sometimes delayed because of organising issues or incomplete preparation of documents (timeliness). Disclosure of engagements is limited, and meetings are not held to support wide attendance at discussion forms (openness), which tend to not be representative of the population (inclusiveness). The meetings tend to have limited scope for public inputs (respect for self-expression, **proportionality**), and instead request approval of pre-formed policies (reciprocity). Policy and preparation documents are to be provided ahead of the discussion meetings, however in practice, these documents are not sufficiently accessible to the community (accessibility). The process does engage various civil society groups in the deliberations, including women's groups, children's forums, and others, but it has not exhibited broad engagement, particularly of those who face various forms of marginalisation or the most vulnerable.

Nepal

There is no civic structure or mechanism that represents marginalized people and climate change survivors in advancing their participation and voice for climate justice (inclusiveness). The federal system is opening up opportunities for institutionalising and sustaining public engagement at the three tiers, and mechanisms and levels of engagement currently vary across the districts. Good practice has been seen in the form of CSOs supporting transparent disclosure of information, which has enabled proactive public participation (accessibility), CSOs working with the authorities to support Users' Committees that are facilitating the leaders of marginalised communities, including women and vulnerable groups, to input their priorities into the process (inclusiveness), and the use of social accountability tools (openness, respect for selfexpression), depth through the reliable allocation of budget, open forums and joint monitoring and evaluation of government and CSOs, and sustainability through regular engagement and reciprocity of actors. However, these represent only instances across different mechanisms, and there are also many areas for improvement. For some mechanisms, engagement is seen as a formality, and public inputs are ignored in policy decisions (reciprocity). Elite and political capture is also evident, impeding genuine participation (openness). In general, asymmetry of information has compromised the ability for under-represented communities and people to engage in policy and evaluation (proportionality, inclusiveness, accessibility). Authorities have not issued any information as to how the public inputs are used (**depth**), and there is no evidence of aligning engagement to ensure effective inputs into the budget cycle (timeliness).

4. WHAT ARE THE POLITICAL ECONOMY CONTEXT FACTORS THAT SUPPORT OR UNDERMINE PUBLIC PARTICIPATION IN CLIMATE-RELATED BUDGETING AND ACCOUNTABILITY? HOW DO THESE FACTORS AFFECT THE IDENTIFIED GAPS AND THE LIKELIHOOD OF THE GAPS BEING FILLED?

Bangladesh

Indonesia

Several CSOs in Bangladesh are active in budget monitoring and engagement, including ActionAid Bangladesh, the International Centre on Climate Change and Development (ICCCAD), and the Democratic Budget Movement, that supports and facilitates civil society engagement.

Spaces for civil society participation have been increasing in the last few years, as provisions like the climate budget report have increased information and accessibility. There has been some media participation, such as the budget TV programme, but in general, the media has not been notable.

The provisions in the Development Project Performa of the government encourage public participation in project development, but in practice, there is a lack of openness for participation and information sharing.

The government's annual Climate Budget Report supports an increase in transparency on allocations, revisions, and expenditure, but still lacks some aspects of accessibility and openness. Parliament input is limited by mid-year revisions being made but not sent to Parliament for approval.

The study finds that public participation spaces have been co-opted by political actors, such as legislators and community leaders, who are close with those in positions of power, or related officials who are relevant to the implementation of formal or informal

There are several factors that inhibit participation levels in the community:

public perceptions that the Musrenbang is only a formality;

spaces for participation.

- lack of information and responsiveness of the authorities in relation to public inputs;
- lack of awareness of the implementation of the Musrenbang discussions or other participation
- views that develop in the region should be the sole responsibility of the government, which can affect people's willingness to participate;
- lack of transparency and accountability in the implementation of development and budgeting at all levels; and
- poor facilities and infrastructure that support public participation in development.

Other political factors that can affect participation relate to actors, power status, social capital, and level of interest.

Nepal

There are informal committees and mechanisms that are powerful in informally lobbying and shaping discussions with authorities. However, these are generally male-dominated and influenced by higher caste people, so the views of marginalised groups are not being captured. The formation of the network of CSOs, journalists, lawyers, teachers, civic groups, and citizens was a game-changing initiative to increase negotiating power of citizens for participation in planning and budgeting, as well as to bridge the capacity and technical gap of local government in climate planning and budgeting. CSOs have been instrumental in increasing public participation in these processes. CSOs and the media are also important accountability actors in Nepal, and have implemented several media campaigns and dialogue programs. Nepal is making efforts to put into place constitutional, legal and policy frameworks, as well as institutional mechanisms, to address emerging issues of climate financing and accountability. Many challenges however remain in relation to the institutional arrangements and technical capacities, and resource availability of local governments.

5. QUANTITATIVE COMPONENT: PUBLIC CONTRIBUTION TO THE CLIMATE BUDGET

Bangladesh

Indonesia

Nepal

National climate change budget estimation: US\$2.9 billion for FY 2020-21. 41% of this finance goes towards food security, social protection and health.

Household climate change budget estimation: US\$ 2 billion for FY 2015-16. Key household spending is on disaster-related house repairs and other emergency preparedness.

estimation: US\$3.3 billion in 2017-18. Household climate change budget estimation: no data available. However, loss and damage is a major issue, with households affected by flooding (estimated loss from 2010-2016 of US\$130 million), landslides and heavy rain. This caused damages on housing (US\$164.5 million in 2017), irrigation (US\$ 147.7. million in 2017), livestock (US\$90.3 million in 2017) and

agriculture (US\$60.7 million in 2017).

National climate change budget

National climate change budget estimation: US\$7.6 million in 2018. US\$4.1 million to mitigation (particularly railway infrastructure and roads) and US\$2.6 million for adaptation (particularly dam construction, construction of flats, and normalization of rivers).

Household climate change budget estimation: no data available. However, loss and damage figures from forest and land fires during 2019 reached US\$5.3 billion, and from the Jakarta floods in 2013 reached US\$490 million. These events suggest disaster risk preparedness and improvement in infrastructure are key household priorities.

6. RECOMMENDATIONS

Bangladesh

- strengthen implementation of regulations and legislation stipulating public participation
- ensure greater engagement and consultation of direct beneficiaries during project development, implementation and monitoring
- increase transparency of information during the April budget meetings, providing justifications for shifts in allocations
- establish a joint task force with representatives from ministries, CSO and the private sector to support planning, implementation and monitoring. Undertake joint government-CSO social audit processes.
- develop a climate finance registry and share online details of climate projects that CSOs can access and disseminate
- provide greater resources to support participation, particularly of the marginalised and most vulnerable

Indonesia

- ensure more meaningful and inclusive space for society to influence policy through enforcing regulations and legislation clarifying public participation. Build mechanisms or instruments to regularly review and strengthen the public participation process, drawing on the GIFT principles.
- ensure that the local government budgets for the cost of conducting regular Musrenbang forums at the village level through the APBD
- government at all levels should involve national partners (CSOs, academia and the private sector) who focus on climate change issues and have relationships to communities, as participants and co-organisers in development planning meetings.
- government should put mechanisms in place to reduce the elite capture of participation forums. They should increase the transparency around how many of the community proposals are included in the Annual Regional Government Plan and the local budget and why not, where they have not been.

Nepal

For state convenors:

- integrate inclusive participation, equity and incentives into financial instruments and processes, recognising the different needs and interests of diverse stakeholders.
- focus on inclusion, voice, and participation
- build coherent mechanisms and systems to support subnational governments
- categorically stipulate citizen engagement strategies and entry points in all phases of the budget cycle. Collaborate with CSOs that have experience in engaging excluded and vulnerable groups.
- all three tiers of government to proactively public disaggregated data and information on the benefits and participation of citizens
- formal oversight institutions such as parliamentary committees and the Office of Auditor General (OAG) to scrutinise climate finance at various stages of the budget cycle.
- improve multi-stakeholder engagement, including universities, in research to generate evidence for policy making, the private sector to augment climate investment, and CSOs to bridge the information gap
- the Central Bureau of Statistics should collaborate with national and subnational governments to deliver a national survey on households' climate change expenditure

For non-state actors:

- support existing civic mechanisms such as users' committees to be more inclusive and representative.
 Employ alternative mechanisms for civic engagement and accountability to reach different groups.
- augment policy dialogues to bring together the beneficiary, government representatives, provincial lawmakers, and CSOs in joint understanding on climate change issues and their effects.
- advocate for and bring voices from informal spaces into formal mechanisms
- use data and information related to climate related performance in their monitoring, advocacy, and oversight roles

Effective climate budgeting requires meaningful participation and systematic public engagement. Without these it is difficult for governments to provide climate financing that aligns with household priorities, and households will continue to spend large amounts of money responding and adapting to climate change without, and sometimes against the flow of, public financing.

Using a case study approach, this paper explores the role of public participation in climate budgeting in Nepal, Bangladesh, and Indonesia by assessing these governments' adherence to the Global Initiative for Fiscal Transparency (GIFT) principles of public participation in fiscal policy. It also analyses secondary data on household climate and disaster priorities against government climate and disaster expenditure estimates, and finds that households in these countries are significant financiers of climate resilience. But their governments are not yet enabling households to meaningfully participate throughout the public financial management (PFM) process that would lead to better alignment and targeting of the public climate budget. The paper also identifies cross-country learning and makes recommendations to support improvements in public accountability and participation processes, particularly through interventions to improve national adherence to the GIFT principles.

IIED is a policy and action research organisation. We promote sustainable development to improve livelihoods and protect the environments on which these livelihoods are built. We specialise in linking local priorities to global challenges. IIED is based in London and works in Africa, Asia, Latin America, the Middle East and the Pacific, with some of the world's most vulnerable people. We work with them to strengthen their voice in the decision-making arenas that affect them — from village councils to international conventions.



International Institute for Environment and Development 235 High Holborn, Holborn, London WC1V 7DN, UK Tel: +44 (0)20 3463 7399 Fax: +44 (0)20 3514 9055 www.iied.org

Funded by







This report was produced with the generous support of the Swedish Postcode Foundation, Irish Aid and Sida (Sweden). However, the views expressed do not necessarily represent those of the institutions involved.

